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SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 

Algernon L. Butler, III (the "Trustee"), in his capacity as Chapter 7 Trustee of American 

Ambulette & Ambulance Service, Inc. ("AAA"), Coastline Care, Inc. ("Coastline Care"), Eastern 

Shore Acquisition Corporation ("ESAC"), Eastern Shore Ambulance, Inc. ("Eastern Shore 

Ambulance"), MarMac Transportation Services, Inc. ("MarMac"), and Transmed, LLC 

("Transmed") (collectively, the "FirstMed Entities"), for his Second Amended Complaint against 

the named Defendants, states and alleges as follows: 

PARTIES, JURISDICTION, AND VENUE 

1. AAA is a corporation organized and existing pursuant to the laws of the State of 

Ohio. 

2. Coastline Care is a corporation organized and existing pursuant to the laws of the 

State of North Carolina. 

3. ESAC is a corporation organized and existing pursuant to the laws of the State of 

Delaware. 

4. Eastern Shore Ambulance is a corporation organized and existing pursuant to the 

laws of the State of Virginia. 

5. MarMac is a corporation organized and existing pursuant to the laws of the State 

of Virginia. 

6. Transmed is a limited liability company organized and existing pursuant to the 

laws of the State of South Carolina. 

7. Each of the FirstMed Entities was in the business of providing medical transport 

services. 

8. The FirstMed Entities conducted business as, and were commonly referred to, 

both individually and collectively, as "FirstMed." 

Case 15-00043-8-SWH    Doc 27   Filed 10/18/16   Entered 10/18/16 15:28:07    Page 2 of
 196



- 3 - 

9. On December 6, 2013, the Board of Directors of each of the FirstMed Entities 

adopted resolutions which were identical in content and which directed that each entity file a 

voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 7 of Title 11 of the United States Code. 

10. Each of the FirstMed Entities filed a voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 7 

of Title 11 of the United States Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern 

District of North Carolina (the "Bankruptcy Court") on December 11, 2013 (the "Petition Date").  

11. On December 13, 2013, the Bankruptcy Court appointed the Trustee as Chapter 7 

Trustee for each of the FirstMed Entities. 

12. The Trustee is authorized to pursue the claims set forth in this Complaint on 

behalf of the bankruptcy estates of the FirstMed Entities. 

13. Enhanced Equity Fund II, L.P. ("EEF") is a limited partnership organized and 

existing pursuant to the laws of the State of Delaware. 

14. EEF Partners II, LLC ("EEF Partners") is a limited liability company organized 

and existing pursuant to the laws of the State of Delaware. 

15. Upon information and belief, Malcolm Kostuchenko ("Kostuchenko") is a citizen 

and resident of the State of New York. 

16. Upon information and belief, Andrew Paul ("Paul") is a citizen and resident of the 

State of New York. 

17. Upon information and belief, Samarth Chandra ("Samarth") is a citizen and 

resident of the State of New York. 

18. Upon information and belief, Bryan Gibson ("Gibson") is a citizen and resident of 

the State of Tennessee. 
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19. Upon information and belief, Steven Blackburn ("Blackburn") is a citizen and 

resident of the State of Tennessee. 

20. Upon information and belief, Robert Jewell ("Jewell") is a citizen and resident of 

the State of Indiana. 

21. Priority Ambulance, LLC ("Priority") is a limited liability company organized and 

existing pursuant to the laws of the State of Delaware. 

22. Shoals Ambulance, LLC is a limited liability company organized and existing 

pursuant to the laws of the State of Alabama. 

23. Defendant Shoals Ambulance, LLC is the successor by name change to Shoals 

Ambulance, Inc. 

24. The term "Shoals" shall mean and refer to Shoals Ambulance, Inc. and Shoals 

Ambulance, LLC. 

The Structure of the FirstMed Entities 

25. The FirstMed Entities were each in the business of providing medical 

transportation services. 

26. The FirstMed Entities conducted operations in various states, including:  North 

Carolina, Virginia, South Carolina, Ohio, Kentucky, and West Virginia. 

27. The operations of FirstMed were divided, for certain purposes, into two 

"branches," AAA, on the one hand, and ESAC and the ESAC Subsidiaries, on the other hand. 

28. ESAC and the ESAC Subsidiaries conducted their operations on the east coast in 

Virginia, North Carolina, and South Carolina. 

29. AAA conducted its operations primarily in Ohio, but also in Kentucky and West 

Virginia. 
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30. Upon information and belief, AAA was the largest medical transport service 

company in Ohio during 2013. 

31. Prior to 2013, a former representative of EEF and/or EEF Partners named 

Christopher Garcia ("Garcia") was a director of each of the FirstMed Entities and of Ambulance 

Holdings. 

32. In 2013, Gibson became the CEO of each of the FirstMed Entities. 

33. Shortly before the Petition Date, Chandra became the CEO of each of the 

FirstMed Entities. 

34. In 2013, Blackburn became an officer of each of the FirstMed Entities. 

35. In 2013, Jewell became an officer of each of the FirstMed Entities. 

36. Ambulance Holdings, LLC ("Ambulance Holdings") owned all of the outstanding 

shares of AAA and ESAC. 

37. Coastline Care, Eastern Shore Ambulance, MarMac, and Transmed (collectively 

referred to herein as the "ESAC Subsidiaries") are subsidiaries of ESAC. 

38. ESAC owns all of the outstanding shares of Coastline Care. 

39. ESAC owns 99.91% of the outstanding shares of Eastern Shore Ambulance. 

40. ESAC owns 99.33% of the outstanding shares of MarMac. 

41. ESAC owns 99% of the outstanding membership interest of Transmed. 

42. EEF owns approximately 82% of the outstanding membership interest of 

Ambulance Holdings. 

43. Upon information and belief, the remaining ownership interest of Ambulance 

Holdings is owned by entities affiliated with or created by EEF and/or EEF Partners, Paul, or 

Kostuchenko. 
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44. Ambulance Holdings is not an operating entity, but is a holding company which 

owns AAA and ESAC. 

45. The only business of Ambulance Holdings pertains to its ownership of AAA and 

ESAC. 

46. EEF Partners is a general partner of EEF. 

47. Upon information and belief, Paul, Chandra, and Kostuchenko are general 

partners of EEF. 

48. Upon information and belief, Paul and Kostuchenko are members of EEF 

Partners. 

49. Upon information and belief, Chandra is a member of EEF Partners. 

50. Paul, Chandra, and Kostuchenko are employed by EEF and/or EEF Partners. 

51. Paul, Chandra, and Kostuchenko control the business activities of EEF and/or 

EEF Partners. 

52. Paul, Chandra, Kostuchenko, EEF and EEF Partners are collectively referred to 

herein as the "EEF Defendants." 

53. EEF, EEF Partners, Chandra, Paul, Kostuchenko, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell 

are collectively referred to herein as the "FirstMed Defendants." 

54. A chart illustrating certain of the ownership structure of the FirstMed Entities, 

Ambulance Holdings, EEF, EEF Partners, and related entities, as well as the approximate 

ownership interests of the FirstMed Entities and related entities, is attached hereto as "Exhibit A" 

and is incorporated herein by reference as if fully set forth. 
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55. Paul, Kostuchenko, and Chandra are each highly sophisticated professionals with 

exceptional skill and experience in business management and operation, investment, financial 

analysis, and financial management. 

56. The EEF Defendants engage in highly sophisticated private equity firm activities 

through which they control and invest many millions of dollars of capital and they hold 

themselves and their representatives out as having exceptional skill and experience in business 

management and operation, investment, financial analysis, and financial management. 

57. Upon information and belief, the EEF Defendants focus their investments and 

analysis on the health care industry, and have significant experience in the medical transport 

industry. 

58. Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell each have significant management and operational 

experience within the medical transport industry. 

Introduction to Claims 

59. The FirstMed Defendants mismanaged and breached their fiduciary duties to the 

FirstMed Entities and used the FirstMed Entities as a means of diverting tangible and intangible 

value into Priority and Shoals, benefitting the FirstMed Defendants and their new ventures at the 

expense of the FirstMed Entities, their employees, and their creditors. 

60. At a time when the FirstMed Entities were under a forbearance agreement and in 

default under their more than $30,000,000 obligation to their senior lender and under other 

obligations, the FirstMed Defendants developed detailed business models, strategies, and 

forecasts for, spent tremendous amounts of the FirstMed Entities’ money on, and devoted 

significant amounts of the FirstMed Entities’ employee and management time to the expansion 
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of medical transport services into new markets in Tennessee and Alabama (all of the foregoing 

and related activities collectively referred to herein as the "Expansion Plan"). 

61. The FirstMed Defendants' tremendous spending on the Expansion Plan, coupled 

with a deliberate slashing of revenue in AAA, was a powerful one-two punch that destroyed the 

recently rejuvenated financial performance of the FirstMed Entities. 

62. Significantly, although the FirstMed Entities funded all of the work on the 

Expansion Plan, including relocation of vehicles, hiring and paying a significant number of 

additional employees, marketing efforts, charitable donations, lease expenditures, and other 

things, the FirstMed Defendants carried out the Expansion Plan under the name "Priority 

Ambulance" and "Shoals Ambulance."  At the direction of the FirstMed Defendants, employees 

paid by the FirstMed Entities worked for Shoals and vehicles and other assets were actually 

transferred to, and used by, Shoals, an operating business in Alabama owned by Gibson. 

63.  Just before dumping the FirstMed Entities into Chapter 7 bankruptcy filings, the 

FirstMed Defendants formed Priority for the express purpose of seizing the value of the FirstMed 

Entities' investment in the Expansion Plan by continuing exactly the same business model, with 

exactly the same management team and substantially the same employees, thereby benefitting 

from all of the activities paid for by the FirstMed Entities in Tennessee and Alabama. 

64. The FirstMed Defendants filed or caused the filing of Chapter 7 bankruptcy cases 

for each of the FirstMed Entities without considering or pursuing obvious, more productive, and 

readily available alternatives despite the fact that ESAC and the ESAC Subsidiaries were 

consistently profitable and had significant tangible and intangible value, and despite the fact that 

AAA had, just a few months before, been restructured, generated positive EBITDA for the first 

time, and had been trending toward positive and sustainable levels. 
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65. Through their actions, the FirstMed Defendants, Priority, and Shoals deliberately 

stole substantially all of the tangible and intangible value of the FirstMed Entities for themselves, 

ensured that the FirstMed Entities would not be in the marketplace to compete with the FirstMed 

Defendants, Priority, and Shoals in their new ventures, left behind all of the FirstMed Entities' 

liabilities, and continued exactly the same business plan with Priority and Shoals. 

66. The Chapter 7 filings were designed to, and did, benefit the FirstMed Defendants, 

Priority, and Shoals by removing competition in Tennessee, Alabama, and other states and by 

allowing Priority and Shoals to immediately utilize the FirstMed Entities' business plans, 

marketing efforts, contracts, employees, and assets. 

67. In their haste to shut down the operations of, and file Chapter 7 bankruptcy cases 

for, the FirstMed Entities, the FirstMed Defendants knowingly and/or recklessly and in bad faith 

failed to give any, or at best gave no more than a few hours', notice to employees before abruptly 

ceasing operations on December 6, 2013, the Friday afternoon before the filing of the Chapter 7 

petitions in these bankruptcy cases, thereby subjecting the FirstMed Entities' bankruptcy estates 

to substantially increased costs of administration, and to claims in an adversary proceeding 

brought by or on behalf of now former employees seeking to impose potentially significant 

liability under the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, 29 U.S.C. § 2101 et seq. 

(the "WARN Act") and various State statutes (the "WARN Act Litigation"). 

68. Additionally, as a result of the FirstMed Defendants' actions, including but not 

limited to their causing the precipitous shut-down of the FirstMed Entities and the filing of the 

Chapter 7 petitions, other substantial damages and losses have been and will be sustained by the 

FirstMed Entities, including but not limited to the loss of their tangible and intangible value, and 

substantially-diminished asset values and realization on those assets, that otherwise would have 
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been obtained but for the actions of the FirstMed Defendants, Priority, and Shoals, and the value 

and gains obtained by the FirstMed Defendants, Priority, and Shoals through their theft of 

corporate opportunities of the FirstMed Entities, including but not limited to those relating to the 

Expansion Plan. 

69. The actions of the FirstMed Defendants, Priority, and Shoals represented, at best, 

management of the FirstMed Entities in bad faith and with gross negligence or recklessness, or, 

at worst, an intentional and calculated strategy to force FirstMed to bear the significant 

development, start-up, and other costs of the Expansion Plan, then to siphon substantially all of 

the tangible and intangible value of the Expansion Plan from the FirstMed Entities for 

themselves and their new entities, Priority and Shoals, while leaving behind all of the FirstMed 

Entities' liabilities. 

70. By using the identical business plans and strategies, the same employees, and 

having the FirstMed Entities bear the significant start-up costs, the FirstMed Defendants, 

Priority, and Shoals have been successful in the Expansion Plan in Tennessee and Alabama, 

while the FirstMed Entities' creditors and employees are unpaid.  

71. The Trustee seeks to hold the Defendants accountable for their actions and to 

recover the tangible and intangible value lost by the FirstMed Entities on account of the 

Defendants' actions. 

72. The creditors of the FirstMed Entities' bankruptcy estates include not only lenders 

owed more than $30,000,000 and other creditors, but also thousands of now former employees of 

the FirstMed Entities whose wages went unpaid and whose jobs and insurance were terminated 

immediately and without notice. 

EEF Acquires the FirstMed Entities 
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73. In 2011, EEF and/or EEF Partners formed Ambulance Holdings for the purpose 

of acquiring all of the outstanding shares of ESAC. 

74. In 2011, Ambulance Holdings did acquire all of the outstanding shares of ESAC. 

75. Before they were acquired by Ambulance Holdings, ESAC and the ESAC 

Subsidiaries had histories of steady, profitable financial performance. 

76. By acquiring all of the outstanding shares of ESAC, Ambulance Holdings also 

acquired a controlling ownership interest in, or the ability to control, each of the ESAC 

Subsidiaries. 

77. EEF, EEF Partners, Paul, Chandra, and Kostuchenko each assessed in detail the 

financial records and historical performance of ESAC and the ESAC Subsidiaries before forming 

Ambulance Holdings. 

78. In 2011, the EEF Defendants caused Ambulance Holdings to acquire all of the 

outstanding shares of AAA. 

79. In 2011, the EEF Defendants caused AAA to acquire all of the assets of the 

entities known as "Life Ambulance" and "MedCorp." 

80. Thereafter, AAA used the trade names "Life Ambulance" and "MedCorp." 

81. Upon information and belief, the assets of Life Ambulance were purchased from a 

receivership and the assets of MedCorp were purchased from a bankruptcy estate. 

82. Upon information and belief, EEF and/or EEF Partners engaged an analyst to 

project the financial performance of the assets of Life Ambulance and MedCorp before AAA 

purchased those assets. 

83. Upon information and belief, that analyst concluded that those assets would 

generate positive return on EEF and/or EEF Partners' investment. 
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84. In connection with its acquisition of the assets of Life Ambulance and MedCorp, 

AAA incurred substantial debt and encumbered certain of its assets. 

85. Upon information and belief, EEF and/or EEF Partners' investment in Ambulance 

Holdings and, by extension, in the FirstMed Entities, represented the largest investment in EEF 

and/or EEF Partners' portfolio. 

86. For that reason, there was substantial pressure on the FirstMed Defendants for the 

FirstMed Entities to generate positive returns to EEF and/or EEF Partners and their investors and 

partners, and for those positive returns to come quickly. 

87. When positive returns did not come quickly, there was substantial pressure on the 

FirstMed Defendants to take for themselves and for Priority and Shoals, all available tangible 

and intangible value from the FirstMed Entities to produce up-side value for themselves, Priority 

and Shoals. 

EEF and/or EEF Partners Controlled The FirstMed Entities and Ambulance Holdings 

88. EEF owns approximately 82% of the outstanding membership interest of 

Ambulance Holdings. 

89. Upon information and belief, since Ambulance Holdings acquired AAA and 

ESAC, representatives of EEF and/or EEF Partners have made up a majority of the Board of 

Directors for each of the FirstMed Entities and Ambulance Holdings. 

90. EEF and/or EEF Partners placed their representatives on the Board of Directors of 

each of the FirstMed Entities and Ambulance Holdings as a means of ensuring that EEF and/or 

EEF Partners would dictate the business operations, finances, funding, and strategies of the 

FirstMed Entities and Ambulance Holdings. 
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91. EEF and/or EEF Partners did control and dictate the business operations, finances, 

funding, and strategies of the FirstMed Entities and Ambulance Holdings. 

92. The representatives of EEF and/or EEF Partners who served as directors of the 

FirstMed Entities and Ambulance Holdings were acting within the course and scope of their 

employment with EEF and/or EEF Partners, and were acting for the benefit of EEF and/or EEF 

Partners, when they acted as directors of the FirstMed Entities and Ambulance Holdings or took 

any action whatsoever relating to the FirstMed Entities, Ambulance Holdings, or the Expansion 

Plan, and the creation, diversion, and transfer of tangible and intangible assets, value, and 

opportunity to Shoals and Priority. 

93. Prior to December of 2012, Paul and Garcia were members of the Board of 

Directors of each of the FirstMed Entities and Ambulance Holdings. 

94. In or around December of 2012, Chandra replaced Garcia as a member of the 

Board of Directors of each of the FirstMed Entities and Ambulance Holdings. 

95. Upon information and belief, Chandra, Paul, and/or Kostuchenko either 

developed, or were involved in and had to approve, all material decisions, operations, activities, 

and strategies of the FirstMed Entities and Ambulance Holdings. 

96. The EEF Defendants controlled the strategies, decisions, operations, and activities 

of the FirstMed Entities and Ambulance Holdings. 

97. EEF and/or EEF Partners also controlled the FirstMed Entities through their 

funding of the operations of the FirstMed Entities. 

98. EEF and/or EEF Partners did not adequately fund Ambulance Holdings or the 

FirstMed Entities, so those entities could not operate independently of EEF and/or EEF Partners. 
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99. Instead, the EEF Defendants intended for those entities to be dependent upon 

incremental funding from EEF and/or EEF Partners in order to carry out their operations so that 

the EEF Defendants could control the FirstMed Entities and Ambulance Holdings. 

The Loan From BMO 

100. On or about July 1, 2011, AAA and ESAC, as Borrowers, and the ESAC 

Subsidiaries, as Guarantors, entered into agreements with Bank of Montreal and The F&M Bank 

and Trust Company (collectively, the "Lenders") whereby AAA and ESAC borrowed 

$26,500,000 under Term Notes and $5,000,000 under Revolving Notes pursuant to the terms of a 

Credit Agreement, as amended from time to time (the "Loans"). 

101. Upon information and belief, a substantial portion of the Loans were utilized to 

purchase the assets of Life Ambulance and MedCorp by AAA. 

102. Upon information and belief, ESAC and AAA transferred to the Lenders a 

security interest in certain of their assets as security for the Loans. 

103. In 2012, the FirstMed Entities were not in compliance with, and were in default 

under, the terms and conditions of the Loans. 

104. In March of 2013, the FirstMed Entities and the Lenders entered into a 

Forbearance Agreement, the terms of which were extended and amended multiple times 

throughout 2013 (the "Forbearance Agreements"). 

105. In the Forbearance Agreements, the FirstMed Entities acknowledged their default 

under the Loans and the Lenders agreed to forbear their rights under the Loans in exchange for 

the FirstMed Entities' compliance with the terms and conditions of the Forbearance Agreement. 
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106. The Forbearance Agreements and related agreements required that EEF and/or 

EEF Partners provide certain funding to the FirstMed Entities to ensure certain levels of cash 

liquidity. 

107. The FirstMed Entities remained in default under the Loans until the Petition Date. 

108. The FirstMed Entities extended and amended the Forbearance Agreements until 

October of 2013. 

109. In October of 2013, the Lenders offered to extend the Forbearance Agreements 

for an additional period, but the FirstMed Defendants refused. 

110. After refusing to extend the Forbearance Agreements, the FirstMed Defendants 

demanded that the Lenders reduce the outstanding debt from more than $30,000,000 to 

approximately $4,000,000 and threatened to file a Chapter 7 bankruptcy case for each of the 

FirstMed Entities if the Lenders would not agree to do so. 

ESAC and the ESAC Subsidiaries Consistently Generated Positive EBITDA 

111. In 2011, ESAC and the ESAC Subsidiaries had an established track record of 

profitable operations, consistently generating a positive EBITDA. 

112. ESAC and the ESAC Subsidiaries continued to consistently generate a positive 

EBITDA after their acquisition by Ambulance Holdings. 

113. ESAC and the ESAC Subsidiaries cumulatively generated substantial EBITDA 

during each quarter of 2012 and each of the first three quarters of 2013, even after their share of 

the FirstMed Entities' corporate expense. 

114. During each quarter of 2012 and each of the first three quarters of 2013, ESAC 

and the ESAC Subsidiaries exceeded $5,000,000 in cumulative revenue. 
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115. During the year 2012, ESAC and the ESAC Subsidiaries generated nearly 

$2,000,000 in EBITDA, over and above their share of the FirstMed Entities' corporate expense. 

116. During the first two quarters of 2013, ESAC and the ESAC Subsidiaries were on 

pace to generate more than $2,000,000 in EBITDA for the year 2013, over and above their share 

of the FirstMed Entities' corporate expense. 

117. Upon information and belief, ESAC and the ESAC Subsidiaries would have 

continued to generate approximately $2,000,000 in EBITDA each year but for the wrongful acts 

of the FirstMed Defendants as described herein. 

118. ESAC and the ESAC Subsidiaries continued to generate positive EBITDA after 

corporate expense during the later portion of 2013, even in the face of tremendous increases to 

corporate expense, as described in greater detail below. 

119. The FirstMed Defendants substantially impaired the financial performance and 

the tangible and intangible value of ESAC and the ESAC Subsidiaries by increasing corporate 

expense through the hiring of many high-salaried employees in Tennessee and Alabama, by 

diverting assets and resources from ESAC and the ESAC Subsidiaries into the Expansion Plan, 

by focusing on the Expansion Plan rather than the existing business, then by dumping ESAC and 

the ESAC Subsidiaries into a Chapter 7 bankruptcy case. 

120. Upon information and belief, during 2012 and 2013, ESAC and the ESAC 

Subsidiaries performed as expected by EEF and/or EEF Partners at the time that Ambulance 

Holdings was formed. 

121. Any negative change in the EBITDA of ESAC and the ESAC Subsidiaries in late 

2013 was due to the actions of the FirstMed Defendants in focusing on the Expansion Plan, 
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diverting resources of those entities into the Expansion Plan, and significantly increasing 

corporate costs in connection with the Expansion Plan. 

122. ESAC and the ESAC Subsidiaries had large contracts for services, significant 

accounts receivable, a proven track record of positive EBITDA, and assets worth millions of 

dollars (including tangible assets such as a substantial number of ambulances and ambulettes), 

and a significant amount of valuable medical supplies and equipment. 

123. Up to the Petition Date, ESAC and the ESAC Subsidiaries had a significant going 

concern value. 

124. Only a few months prior to the Petition Date, a former officer of the FirstMed 

Entities expressed genuine interest in arranging the purchase of ESAC and the ESAC 

Subsidiaries for at least $15,000,000, but the FirstMed Defendants did not explore that potential 

sale, did not disclose that information to the Lenders, and did not otherwise market any of the 

FirstMed Entities to anyone before filing the Chapter 7 cases. 

125. In late 2013, the FirstMed Defendants stated that the cumulative goodwill and 

other intangible value of ESAC and the ESAC Subsidiaries exceeded $20,000,000. 

126. The FirstMed Defendants represented up to the Petition Date that ESAC and the 

ESAC Subsidiaries would continue to generate positive EBITDA. 

FirstMed's Prior Management Team Corrected the AAA Operations by Mid-2013. 
 

127. AAA did not generate the revenue that the EEF Defendants had anticipated. 

128. During each quarter of 2012, AAA's expenses exceeded its revenues. 

129. In or around December of 2012, FirstMed's Chief Executive Officer, Mike Franks 

("Franks"), resigned or was fired by the EEF Defendants and FirstMed's then-Chief Operations 

Officer Chris Martin ("Martin"), was named the interim Chief Executive Officer. 
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130. Also in or around December of 2012, Chandra replaced Garcia as director of the 

FirstMed Entities and Ambulance Holdings. 

131. In or around December of 2012, Martin and the EEF Defendants developed 

detailed plans for restructuring AAA's operations. 

132. The restructuring plans were designed to reduce a significant amount of AAA's 

expenses and to renegotiate contracts which AAA had in the Ohio area in order to trim the 

unprofitable components of those contracts. 

133. In December of 2012 and through the beginning of 2013, Martin and other AAA 

representatives carried out the restructuring plans and activities. 

134. As a result of the restructuring plans, for the first quarter of 2013, AAA reduced 

its expenses by nearly $3,500,000 per quarter as compared to 2012. 

135. As a result of the restructuring plans, in March of 2013, AAA had improved its 

financial position so that it generated a positive EBITDA after inclusion of its share of the 

FirstMed Entities' corporate expense for the first time since AAA was acquired by Ambulance 

Holdings. 

136. This represented a significant improvement from each of the quarters in the year 

2012, where AAA saw negative EBITDA as high as $2,766,000 for a quarter. 

137. By March of 2013, AAA's financial data showed a demonstrable and significant 

positive trend. 

138. During this time, Martin stayed in contact with the Lenders and reported AAA's 

progress to the Lenders.  The Lenders were comfortable with the progress being made by AAA 

and with the dialogue that existed between it and Martin and other representatives of the 

FirstMed Entities. 
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139. The Lenders were supportive of the restructuring plans and agreed to forbear and 

extend the duration of the Forbearance Agreements during the implementation of the 

restructuring plans. 

140. In addition to improving the operations of AAA, another component of the 

restructuring plans was to become involved in lobbying Ohio legislators concerning improved 

reimbursement rates in Ohio for medical transport services. 

141. AAA's executive team was involved in that lobbying effort. 

142. AAA's executive team understood that reimbursements rates in Ohio were set to 

be much improved beginning in January of 2014. 

143. As a result of that upcoming legislative change in Ohio, AAA's executive team 

anticipated that AAA's revenues would increase significantly beginning in January of 2014. 

144. The success of the restructuring plans in AAA was well publicized and lauded 

throughout the FirstMed Entities. 

145. In mid-2013, the FirstMed Entities' management team reasonably expected that 

the improvements to AAA's financial performance would continue and reasonably expected that 

AAA would contribute a positive EBITDA after corporate expense in the future. 

146. In mid-2013, AAA represented a large going concern with revenues which had 

been as high as $14,700,000 per quarter in 2012 and which were then approximately 

$12,000,000 per quarter. 

147. In mid-2013, AAA had many large contracts for medical transport services, had 

significant accounts receivable, and owned millions of dollars of assets (including tangible assets 

such as a substantial number of ambulances and ambulettes), and a significant amount of 

valuable medical supplies and equipment. 

Case 15-00043-8-SWH    Doc 27   Filed 10/18/16   Entered 10/18/16 15:28:07    Page 19 of
 196



- 20 - 

148. In mid-2013, AAA's executive management team was committed to continuing its 

operations in its existing territories and continuing to realize improved financial performance as 

a result of the positive changes that they had made. 

149. In mid-2013, the FirstMed Entities had a consolidated positive EBITDA, after 

inclusion of corporate expense, and were on pace to achieve annual revenues of approximately 

$18,000,000. 

150. Even in late 2013, the FirstMed Defendants stated that AAA had goodwill and 

other intangible value exceeding $15,000,000. 

151. As with ESAC and the ESAC Subsidiaries, the FirstMed Defendants caused the 

financial performance of AAA to deteriorate in the third and fourth quarters of 2013 by, among 

other things, increasing corporate expense through the hiring of many high-salaried employees in 

Tennessee and Alabama, by diverting assets and resources from AAA into the Expansion Plan, 

and by focusing on the Expansion Plan rather than the existing business. 

EEF Brings on The Gibson Management Team in Mid-2013 

152. After Franks left employment with the FirstMed Entities in late 2012, the EEF 

Defendants set out to find a new management team. 

153. The EEF Defendants identified Gibson as a candidate and, after discussions, 

finalized the terms of Gibson's employment during early 2013. 

154. The decision to hire Gibson was made solely by the EEF Defendants. 

155. When Martin learned that Gibson would be hired, Martin agreed to remain with 

FirstMed until after Gibson could officially begin his duties in late July of 2013, then Martin 

would resign shortly thereafter. 
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156. Gibson had previously worked for RuralMetro, which was a large medical 

transport services company that had filed for bankruptcy protection. 

157. Upon information and belief, Gibson previously had an ownership interest in a 

medical transport services company located in Tennessee which utilized the trade name "Priority 

Ambulance." 

158. Upon information and belief, at the time that he was employed by the FirstMed 

Entities, Gibson had certain rights to use the trade name "Priority Ambulance." 

159. Before they hired Gibson, the EEF Defendants knew that Gibson owned an 

interest in Shoals, a medical transport services business in Alabama, and that Gibson devoted 

substantial time to the operation of Shoals. 

160. Upon information and belief, Gibson required, as a condition of his employment 

with the FirstMed Entities, that he be allowed to continue to devote substantial time to the 

operation of Shoals in Alabama. 

161. Upon information and belief, the EEF Defendants agreed to that condition. 

162. Gibson was officially announced as the Chief Executive Officer of the FirstMed 

Entities in late July of 2013. 

163. After that announcement, Gibson visited the operational headquarters of the 

FirstMed Entities in Wilmington, North Carolina. 

164. After that initial visit, Gibson never returned to the operational headquarters of 

the FirstMed Entities in Wilmington, North Carolina. 

165. Upon information and belief, Gibson performed his duties as Chief Executive 

Officer of the FirstMed Entities remotely and primarily from Phoenix, Arizona. 
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166. Soon after Gibson began his tenure with the FirstMed Entities, Blackburn and 

Jewell were also hired as officers of each of the FirstMed Entities. 

167. Blackburn and Jewell had previously worked with Gibson in other medical 

transport services businesses. 

168. Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell are collectively referred to herein as the "Gibson 

Management Team." 

169. Upon information and belief, the Gibson Management Team was in very frequent 

contact with the EEF Defendants and contributed to, helped to develop, and implemented the 

plans and strategies of the EEF Defendants. 

170. Martin's employment with the FirstMed Entities ended on or about October 1, 

2013. 

The Gibson Management Team Slashes Revenue in Ohio 
 

171. When the Gibson Management Team began employment, Martin and the prior 

management team had significantly improved AAA's financial performance. 

172. Upon information and belief, the FirstMed Defendants sought to reduce or 

eliminate AAA's business in Ohio so that AAA's resources, such as employees, vehicles, and 

medical equipment could be redeployed into the Expansion Plan. 

173. The FirstMed Defendants caused AAA to eliminate beneficial contracts that 

Martin and his prior management team had restructured, significantly reducing AAA's revenues. 

174. The FirstMed Defendants did not cut AAA's expenses nearly as quickly as they 

cut AAA's revenues, thereby creating a substantially negative impact on AAA's financial 

performance during the third and fourth quarters of 2013. 
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175. The FirstMed Defendants utilized employees and resources of the FirstMed 

Entities, and particularly of AAA, to carry out tasks and strategies relating to the Expansion Plan, 

rather than to maintain and improve the existing business of the FirstMed Entities and of AAA. 

176. In the third quarter of 2013, the first quarter that the Gibson Management Team 

led the FirstMed Entities, AAA's EBITDA suffered a negative change of nearly $1,000,000. 

177. The decisions by the FirstMed Defendants to significantly reduce revenues in 

AAA's operation and to divert employees and resources of the FirstMed Entities toward the 

Expansion Plan substantially weakened the financial stability of the FirstMed Entities. 

The FirstMed Defendants Develop and Implement the Expansion Plan 
 

178. Soon after the Gibson Management Team began, the FirstMed Defendants 

focused on developing, and did develop, a detailed and thoroughly researched business model 

and financial projections for the Expansion Plan into Tennessee and Alabama. 

179. The FirstMed Defendants devoted significant resources of the FirstMed Entities 

into developing and researching the business model for the Expansion Plan. 

180. The Expansion Plan was an asset of, and a corporate opportunity of, the FirstMed 

Entities. 

181. The FirstMed Defendants focused on the development of the Expansion Plan to 

the exclusion of the established business of the FirstMed Entities. 

182. During the time that Martin managed the FirstMed operations, Martin spent the 

overwhelming majority of his time restructuring and carefully analyzing and improving the day-

to-day operations of the FirstMed Entities, and in providing information to the Lenders and 

monitoring the situation with the Lenders. 
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183. Martin was located in Wilmington, North Carolina, the operational headquarters 

of the FirstMed Entities, where he worked alongside other key executives and employees of the 

FirstMed Entities. 

184. During the time that the Gibson Management Team operated FirstMed, the 

FirstMed Defendants did not spend any significant time analyzing or attempting to improve the 

existing business of FirstMed.  Instead, the FirstMed Defendants spent the majority of their time 

focusing on the Expansion Plan. 

185. Gibson only visited Wilmington, North Carolina once, when he was announced as 

the new Chief Executive Officer.  He conducted the majority of his activities as Chief Executive 

Officer of the FirstMed Entities remotely from his home in Phoenix, Arizona. 

186. The FirstMed Defendants were particularly inattentive to the ongoing business 

and did not spend time or energy in monitoring or improving operations of ESAC and the ESAC 

Subsidiaries, and the FirstMed Defendants did not, except for one occasion upon information and 

belief, even visit the FirstMed Entities' operational headquarters in Wilmington, North Carolina. 

187. The FirstMed Defendants knew that the Expansion Plan would be very expensive, 

would not generate revenue for a long period of time because there were no existing contracts in 

Tennessee or Alabama, and would divert significant resources and time away from the existing 

business of the FirstMed Entities. 

188. At the time that the FirstMed Defendants focused on the Expansion Plan, the 

FirstMed Entities were in default under the Loans, were not adequately capitalized to take on the 

expense of the Expansion Plan, were subject to the Forbearance Agreements with the Lenders, 

and, although their financial performance was improved from 2012, the FirstMed Entities had 

only recently achieved a small positive EBITDA on a consolidated basis. 
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189. The FirstMed Defendants knew or should have known that the FirstMed Entities 

were not in a financial position to undertake or sustain the significant expense of the Expansion 

Plan without funding from an outside source. 

190. Despite the then-existing financial characteristics of the FirstMed Entities, the 

FirstMed Defendants made the intentional decision to cut revenues in AAA while, at the same 

time, adding significant expenses to the FirstMed Entities' operation by hiring many new, high-

salaried employees in Tennessee and Alabama and spending significant amounts in furtherance 

of the Expansion Plan. 

191. The FirstMed Entities never performed any medical transport services in the 

states of Tennessee and Alabama and never generated any revenue whatsoever in the states of 

Tennessee and Alabama. 

Although Paid for by the FirstMed Entities, the Expansion Plan Was Carried Out Under 
the Name "Priority Ambulance" and "Shoals Ambulance" 
 

192. In 2013, Gibson had certain rights to use the trade name "Priority Ambulance" 

and Gibson owned an interest in Shoals. 

193. When the FirstMed Defendants directed the FirstMed Entities to spend money 

and divert resources into the Expansion Plan in Tennessee or Alabama, those actions were done 

under Gibson’s trade names "Priority Ambulance" or "Shoals Ambulance" and not under any 

trade name previously utilized by the FirstMed Entities. 

194. The FirstMed Defendants directed the FirstMed Entities to utilize those trade 

names, rather than their own trade names, in the Expansion Plan so that the activities funded by 

the FirstMed Entities would benefit Shoals and Priority and so that the FirstMed Defendants and 

Shoals and Priority could seize the value of those activities, and leave all of the FirstMed 
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Entities' liabilities behind, in the event that the Lenders would not agree to the FirstMed 

Defendants' demands to restructure the Loans. 

195. In 2013, the FirstMed Defendants directed the FirstMed Entities' employees to 

carry out all of the work necessary to research the process for, apply for, and obtain business 

licenses in Tennessee and Alabama. 

196. Upon information and belief, at the direction ofthe FirstMed Defendants, those 

licenses were applied for by employees of the FirstMed Entities under the names of "Priority 

Ambulance" or "Shoals Ambulance" and were paid for by the FirstMed Entities. 

197. In 2013, the FirstMed Defendants directed an employee of the FirstMed Entities 

to design similar "shield" logos for Priority and Shoals based on a design which Gibson had 

previously utilized. 

198. A true and accurate copy of exemplars of the logos for both Priority and Shoals 

developed by an employee of the FirstMed Entities is attached hereto as "Exhibit B" and is 

incorporated herein by reference as if fully set forth. 

199. Further, and as described in greater detail below, the FirstMed Defendants 

directed the FirstMed Entities to recruit and hire new, mostly high-salaried employees in 

Tennessee and Alabama.  Although the FirstMed Entities paid those employees, the FirstMed 

Defendants caused those employees to hold themselves out as representatives of "Priority 

Ambulance" or "Shoals Ambulance" and to actually do work for Shoals. 

200. Further, and as described in greater detail below, the FirstMed Defendants 

directed the FirstMed Entities to transfer a substantial number of FirstMed vehicles to Tennessee 

and/or Alabama and, once there, those vehicles were re-painted with logos and trade names of 
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"Priority Ambulance" and "Shoals Ambulance" and certain of those vehicles were used by 

Shoals. 

201. Further, and as described in greater detail below, the FirstMed Defendants 

directed and caused the FirstMed Entities to use their funds to make charitable donations in 

Tennessee and Alabama under the name "Priority Ambulance" or "Shoals Ambulance." 

202. At no time did the FirstMed Entities own an interest in Priority or Shoals. 

203. At no time did the FirstMed Entities have any enforceable agreement with Priority 

or Shoals whatsoever. 

204. At no time did Priority or Shoals reimburse or pay any money to the FirstMed 

Entities. 

205. At no time was there a note, receivable, or any accounting entry accruing for the 

benefit of the FirstMed Entities relating to reimbursement or repayment of the expenses paid or 

incurred by the FirstMed Entities in connection with the Expansion Plan by Shoals, Priority, or 

any other person or entity. 

The FirstMed Defendants Transfer the Newest Vehicles in the Fleet to Tennessee and 
Alabama and Allow Shoals to Use Them 
 

206. In the fall of 2013, the FirstMed Defendants directed that the FirstMed Entities 

and their employees begin to relocate a significant number of FirstMed vehicles to locations in 

Tennessee and/or Alabama. 

207. At the time that these vehicles were being relocated, the FirstMed Entities had no 

operations in, and owned no property in, Tennessee or Alabama. 

208. However, Shoals did operate, and have business locations, in Alabama. 
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209. Upon information and belief, a large number of the FirstMed Entities' vehicles 

were relocated by the FirstMed Entities' employees to one or more of Shoals' facilities in 

Alabama. 

210. Upon information and belief, the FirstMed Defendants allowed Shoals to use 

certain of the FirstMed Entities' vehicles in Shoals' business, and Shoals did use certain of the 

FirstMed Entities vehicles, without any compensation being paid by Shoals to the FirstMed 

Entities. 

211. Upon information and belief, those vehicles that were relocated into Tennessee 

and Alabama by the FirstMed Entities' employees and which were not used by Shoals sat idle 

because the FirstMed Entities had no contracts or business in Alabama or Tennessee. 

212. The FirstMed Defendants directed that the vehicles to be relocated into Tennessee 

or Alabama would be the newest and lowest-mileage ambulances in the fleets, including low-

mileage Mercedes sprinter ambulances. 

213. The majority of the ambulances relocated into Tennessee and Alabama were 

owned by AAA, but the FirstMed Defendants also directed that ESAC and the ESAC 

Subsidiaries relocate a number of their newest and lowest-mileage ambulances to Tennessee and 

Alabama. 

214. The effect of relocating into Tennessee and Alabama many of the newest and 

lowest-mileage vehicles in the FirstMed Entities' fleets was that the FirstMed Entities were 

forced to continue to operate with older, higher-mileage vehicles which were significantly less 

efficient and which were significantly more costly to operate and maintain, while the more 

efficient and cheaper to maintain vehicles were utilized by Shoals and Priority or sat idle in states 

where the FirstMed Entities did not conduct business. 
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215. The FirstMed Defendants' directive that the newest and lowest-mileage vehicles 

be relocated into Tennessee or Alabama increased costs for the FirstMed Entities and deprived 

the FirstMed Entities of the investment they had already made in those newer, more efficient 

vehicles. 

216. Upon information and belief, the FirstMed Defendants ordered the newest and 

lowest-mileage vehicles to be relocated into Alabama or Tennessee with the intent that those 

ambulances would be used by Shoals or Priority in their business, or for Shoals or Priority to 

purchase those ambulances for liquidation prices after the FirstMed Defendants filed Chapter 7 

bankruptcy cases for the FirstMed Entities. 

217. Employees of the FirstMed Entities drove these vehicles to the specified locations 

in Tennessee and Alabama, thereby diverting their production from the FirstMed Entities' core 

business. 

218. Upon information and belief, the FirstMed Entities paid substantial sums of 

money for time, fuel, lodging, meals, and return flights from Tennessee and Alabama for those 

employees. 

219. After the vehicles were relocated into Tennessee or Alabama, the FirstMed 

Defendants directed that those ambulances be taken to body shops for those ambulances to be re-

painted with the logo and names of "Priority Ambulance" and "Shoals Ambulance." 

220. The FirstMed Defendants directed that FirstMed Entities pay significant sums for 

their own ambulances to be re-painted with the logo and names of "Priority Ambulance" and 

"Shoals Ambulance." 

221. When the Trustee recovered vehicles belonging to the FirstMed Entities which 

had been relocated into Tennessee and Alabama, some of those vehicles had been re-painted 
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while others were in the process of being re-painted with the logo and names of "Priority 

Ambulance" and "Shoals Ambulance." 

222. Neither Priority nor Shoals paid any money to the FirstMed Entities in connection 

with the re-painting of the FirstMed Entities' vehicles. 

223. Photographs of some of the vehicles belonging to the FirstMed Entities which 

either had been re-painted, or which were in the process of being re-painted, are attached hereto 

as "Exhibit C" and are incorporated herein by reference as if fully set forth. 

224. Examples of invoices for the painting of the "Shoals Ambulance" or "Priority 

Ambulance" logos onto vehicles belonging to the FirstMed Entities are attached hereto as 

"Exhibit D" and are incorporated herein by reference as if fully set forth. 

225. In mid to late 2013, the FirstMed Defendants had discussions relating to the fact 

that a Chapter 7 bankruptcy filing by the FirstMed Entities would present an opportunity for 

Shoals or a new entity controlled by EEF and/or EEF Partners to purchase the FirstMed Entities 

ambulances at significantly reduced prices. 

226. Again, immediately prior to the Chapter 7 bankruptcy filings for the FirstMed 

Entities, the FirstMed Defendants again discussed the opportunity to purchase the ambulances 

owned by the FirstMed Entities' at significantly reduced prices. 

227. Upon information and belief, after the Petition Date, the FirstMed Defendants 

decided not to pursue the purchase of vehicles from the FirstMed Entities through Priority and/or 

Shoals because the relocation and re-painting of those vehicles had garnered negative attention 

from the media and former employees of the FirstMed Entities or because they were advised that 

such a transaction may subject them, Priority, and Shoals to legal claims. 
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228. The vehicles which were relocated to Tennessee and Alabama were never utilized 

in those states for the benefit of the FirstMed Entities. 

229. Along with vehicles, the FirstMed Defendants directed employees of the FirstMed 

Entities to relocate valuable medical supplies and equipment belonging to the FirstMed Entities 

to Tennessee or Alabama. 

230. Additionally, the FirstMed Defendants directed employees of the FirstMed 

Entities to order and pay for new equipment to outfit the FirstMed Entities' vehicles which had 

been transferred to Alabama or Tennessee. 

231. The new equipment ordered and paid for by the FirstMed Entities for those 

vehicles was intended to be used by Shoals or Priority. 

232. Examples of invoices for equipment ordered and paid for by the FirstMed Entities 

for those vehicles transferred to Alabama and Tennessee is attached hereto as "Exhibit E" and is 

incorporated herein by reference as if fully set forth. 

233. Upon information and belief, Shoals and/or Priority utilized equipment belonging 

to or paid for by the FirstMed Entities in their business without paying any compensation to the 

FirstMed Entities. 

234. The equipment transferred to, or purchased for, Shoals or Priority has not been 

returned to the Trustee or otherwise accounted for. 

235. The relocation of vehicles and equipment caused significant loss of tangible and 

intangible value for the FirstMed Entities through the increased cost of operation of its business 

with older and higher-mileage vehicles and the diversion of its employees, resources, and funds 

from its core business. 
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236. For the vehicles and equipment relocated into Tennessee and Alabama, the 

FirstMed Defendants did not follow the established procedures utilized by the FirstMed Entities 

for the tracking and record-keeping of the location of their vehicles. 

237. At the same time the FirstMed Defendants were directing employees of the 

FirstMed Entities to relocate vehicles and equipment to Tennessee and Alabama, the Lenders 

were demanding that the FirstMed Defendants deliver the titles to those vehicles to the Lenders 

so that the Lenders could perfect their security interest in those vehicles. 

238. Upon information and belief, the FirstMed Defendants refused to deliver or 

substantially delayed in the delivery of the titles to those vehicles to the Lenders. 

The FirstMed Defendants Hire High-Salaried Employees in Tennessee and Alabama to 
Work for "Priority Ambulance" or "Shoals Ambulance" 
 

239. In the fall of 2013, the FirstMed Defendants caused the FirstMed Entities to hire 

at least 12 new employees based in Tennessee and Alabama, not including members of the 

Gibson Management Team (the "TN / AL Employees"). 

240. The TN / AL Employees were hired specifically to perform work in Tennessee 

and Alabama. 

241. The TN / AL Employees were not low wage or menial workers, but were mostly 

experienced professionals with significant salaries, many exceeding $100,000 annually. 

242. The FirstMed Entities paid the TN / AL Employees a combined amount of 

$30,806.48 per week, which equates to more than $1,600,000 per year. 

243. At the time that the FirstMed Entities hired the new TN / AL Employees, and paid 

those individuals at a rate of more than $1,600,000 per year, the FirstMed Entities had no 

business operations, no business location, no contracts, and no revenue in Tennessee or 

Alabama. 
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244. At the time that the FirstMed Entities hired the new TN / AL Employees, and paid 

those individuals at a rate of more than $1,600,000 per year, the FirstMed Defendants knew or 

should have known that the FirstMed Entities would receive no revenue on account of any labor 

of the TN / AL Employees for a substantial period of time. 

245. At the time that the FirstMed Entities hired the new TN / AL Employees, the 

FirstMed Entities were under a forbearance agreement with the Lenders and the FirstMed 

Entities had returned to a negative EBITDA as a result of the actions of the FirstMed 

Defendants. 

246. When the TN / AL Employees were hired by the FirstMed Entities in the fall of 

2013, the FirstMed Defendants tasked an employee of the FirstMed Entities with sending 

"welcome packages" to those employees. 

247. The "welcome packages" that the FirstMed employee was instructed to put 

together, and which the FirstMed Entities paid for, included products that did not bear the 

FirstMed logo, but instead bore either the "Priority Ambulance" or "Shoals Ambulance" logo. 

248. When the TN / AL Employees were hired by the FirstMed Entities in the fall of 

2013, the FirstMed Defendants directed an employee of the FirstMed Entities to order business 

cards for those employees which bore the logo of and referenced "Priority Ambulance" or 

"Shoals Ambulance." 

249. An example of certain business cards ordered by the FirstMed Entities for a TN / 

AL Employee is attached hereto as "Exhibit F" and is incorporated herein by reference as if fully 

set forth. 

250. The FirstMed Defendants caused the TN / AL Employees to hold themselves out 

not as representatives of FirstMed but as representatives of Priority or Shoals. 
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251. Employees of the FirstMed Entities were directed by the FirstMed Defendants to 

do work for Shoals, a competing medical transport company owned by Gibson, and they did do 

work for Shoals. 

252. All work that the TN / AL Employees conducted in Tennessee or Alabama was 

not for the benefit of the FirstMed Entities, but was for the benefit of Priority or Shoals. 

253. Even high-level management employees and officers of the FirstMed Entities - 

other than the FirstMed Defendants - did not know what the TN / AL Employees were doing in 

Tennessee or Alabama or why they were hired. 

254. The LinkedIn pages, or other social medial or professional marketing pages, for 

some of the TN / AL Employees show that those individuals held themselves out not as 

employees of FirstMed, but as employees of Priority or Shoals prior to the Petition Date. 

255. Virtually all, if not all, of the TN / AL Employees were hired by Shoals or Priority 

after the Petition Date. 

256. Upon information and belief, the FirstMed Defendants directed the FirstMed 

Entities to hire the TN / AL Employees as an intentional strategy to have the FirstMed Entities 

fund the significant expense of recruiting, hiring, training, and paying for a high-quality work 

force in Tennessee and Alabama so that Shoals and Priority would not have to bear that cost. 

257. In the fall of 2013, the FirstMed Defendants directed and caused the FirstMed 

Entities to make deposits on leases, or to expend money in connection with facilities in 

Tennessee and Alabama, which were never used for the FirstMed Entities' business. 

258. Upon information and belief, the FirstMed Defendants directed the FirstMed 

Entities to make those deposits so that Shoals and Priority could benefit from the FirstMed 

Entities' payment of those expenses should they need to utilize those facilities. 
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259. Upon information and belief, Shoals or Priority are currently using facilities that 

the TN / AL Employees researched and located and for which the FirstMed Entities paid for 

deposits and other things. 

260. In the fall of 2013, the FirstMed Defendants directed and caused the FirstMed 

Entities to make a number of significant charitable donations in the name of "Priority 

Ambulance" or "Shoals Ambulance" in Tennessee and/or Alabama.  

261. Upon information and belief, the FirstMed Defendants directed the FirstMed 

Entities to make those charitable donations so that Priority and Shoals would benefit from the 

goodwill of those donations without incurring expense. 

The Expansion Plan Caused a Dramatic Spike In Corporate Expense and Ruined the 
FirstMed Entities' Financial Performance 
 

262. As a result of the FirstMed Defendants' pursuit of the Expansion Plan, the 

FirstMed Entities' corporate costs increased from approximately $300,000 per month in early 

2013 to nearly $700,000 per month by October of 2013, or an annualized increase in costs of 

approximately $4,800,000. 

263. Those significantly increased corporate costs eroded all of the combined EBITDA 

of the FirstMed Entities and caused the FirstMed Entities to lose substantial tangible and 

intangible value by the Petition Date. 

264. Those increased corporate costs benefitted Shoals, Priority, and the FirstMed 

Defendants, not the FirstMed Entities. 

265. On a consolidated basis, the FirstMed Entities went from a positive EBITDA of 

nearly $300,000 per month in March of 2013 to an EBITDA more negative than $1,000,000 per 

month in October of 2013. 

EEF and/or EEF Partners' Promise to Fund the Expansion Plan 
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266. Employees of the FirstMed Entities frequently raised concerns to their superiors 

and other employees about the reduction in revenues within AAA, the increased spending in 

Tennessee and Alabama, the relocation of vehicles into Tennessee and Alabama, and the hiring 

of a significant number of new, high-salary employees in Tennessee and Alabama. 

267. Even senior employees and officers of the FirstMed Entities – other than the 

FirstMed Defendants - were concerned with, and lacked information concerning, the Expansion 

Plan given the immediately prior significant restructuring efforts and improved financial 

condition of the FirstMed Entities and the fact that the Expansion Plan was significantly 

increasing cost while decreasing revenue. 

268. In response to these concerns, EEF and/or EEF Partners promised to, and agreed 

with, the FirstMed Entities that they would provide funds to the FirstMed Entities sufficient to 

cover the Expansion Plan. 

269. Members of the Gibson Management Team and Chandra confirmed and explained 

this promise to senior management employees and officers of the FirstMed Entities, including, 

upon information and belief, Vice President of Operations Jerry LeCato, Controller Kathy Futch, 

and Chief Financial Officer Shawn Hemming. 

270. In those communications, it was stated that EEF and/or EEF Partners promised to, 

and would, provide to the FirstMed Entities $7,500,000 to $10,000,000 in new investment (the 

"Expansion Investment"), and that the Expansion Investment would make-up for, reimburse, or 

cover the cost of the Expansion Plan so that the FirstMed Entities could still sustain their core 

business. 

271. In exchange for the promise by EEF and/or EEF Partners to make the Expansion 

Investment, the FirstMed Entities agreed to, and did, continue utilizing their assets, funds, 
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employees, business model, and other resources toward pursuit of the Expansion Plan despite 

financial performance which was significantly deteriorating. 

272. Upon information and belief, the FirstMed Entities would not have continued 

pursuing the Expansion Plan but for the promise by EEF and/or EEF Partners to make the 

Expansion Investment. 

273. The FirstMed Defendants informed the Lenders that the Expansion Investment 

was required in order to pursue the Expansion Plan. 

274. Upon information and belief, EEF and/or EEF Partners either committed to the 

Lenders and to the FirstMed Entities and their officers and management that they would make 

the Expansion Investment without having any intention to do so, or the FirstMed Defendants 

intentionally misled the Lenders and the FirstMed Entities and their officers and management 

into believing that they would make the Expansion Investment. 

275. Despite informing the Lenders that the Expansion Investment was required in 

order to pursue the Expansion Plan and entering into a promise and contract with the FirstMed 

Entities to make the Expansion Investment, the FirstMed Defendants caused the FirstMed 

Entities to move forward with the Expansion Plan without EEF and/or EEF Partners having 

made the Expansion Investment. 

276. EEF and/or EEF Partners did not make the Expansion Investment, breaching their 

promise to the FirstMed Entities and leaving the FirstMed Entities to absorb the cost of the 

Expansion Plan substantially on their own. 

277. Any investment that EEF and/or EEF Partners made into the Expansion Plan was 

significantly less than the Expansion Investment and was made to benefit Priority and/or Shoals 

and not the FirstMed Entities. 
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The FirstMed Defendants' Communications With the Lenders 
 

278. In October of 2013, after the Forbearance Agreements had been extended several 

times, the Lenders agreed to again extend the period of the Forbearance Agreements. 

279. However, the FirstMed Defendants informed the Lenders that they would not sign 

an extension of the Forbearance Agreements. 

280. The FirstMed Defendants' refusal to agree to an extension of the Forbearance 

Agreements surprised the Lenders. 

281. After refusing an extension of the Forbearance Agreements, the FirstMed 

Defendants made various demands on the Lenders that they compromise the outstanding debt 

owed to them of over $30,000,000.  Initially, the First Med Defendants demanded that the 

Lenders write down the debt to a principal of $10,000,000 plus deferred interest and a small 

equity stake.  After the Lenders made a counter-proposal to that demand, the FirstMed 

Defendants not only refused that counter-proposal but also withdrew their initial demand and 

demanded that the Lenders write off the entire indebtedness in exchange for a payment of 

approximately $4,000,000 and threatened to shut down the businesses of the FirstMed Entities 

and to file a Chapter 7 bankruptcy for each of the FirstMed Entities if the Lenders would not 

agree to do so. 

282. Consistent with their domination and control over the FirstMed Entities and 

Ambulance Holdings, the EEF Defendants led the discussions with the Lenders. 

283. Kostuchenko, who was not an officer or director of the FirstMed Entities, but who 

was a partner of EEF and/or EEF Partners, took an active role in discussions with the Lenders. 
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284. Upon information and belief, Kostuchenko likewise took an active role in the 

development of strategies and operations of the FirstMed Entities and the Expansion Plan in late 

2013 and the decision to file Chapter 7 bankruptcy cases for each of the FirstMed Entities. 

285. The FirstMed Defendants informed the Lenders that if the Lenders were unwilling 

to compromise the debt of more than $30,000,000 for approximately $4,000,000, the Gibson 

Management Team would leave the FirstMed Entities and would pursue the Expansion Plan in a 

new entity with new capital raised by or invested by EEF and/or EEF Partners. 

286. Upon information and belief, the FirstMed Defendants meant that, if the Lenders 

did not accept the FirstMed Defendants' proposal, the FirstMed Defendants would cease the 

business operations of the FirstMed Entities and continue the Expansion Plan through Priority 

and Shoals, eliminating the going concern value of, and substantially harming the asset value of, 

the FirstMed Entities. 

287. In November of 2013, the EEF Defendants made a number of presentations to the 

Lenders and their agents outlining the FirstMed Entities' financial situations and providing 

information about the Expansion Plan. 

288. The EEF Defendants described to the Lenders in great detail the research, 

strategy, and business model for the FirstMed Entities' Expansion Plan. 

289. In the presentations made by the EEF Defendants to the Lenders, the EEF 

Defendants explained that the FirstMed Entities' business plans to expand into Tennessee and 

Alabama were expected to yield more than $30,000,000 in EBITDA by the year 2018. 

290. In the presentations made by the EEF Defendants to the Lenders in November of 

2013, the EEF Defendants represented that the FirstMed Entities' Expansion Plan was dependent 

upon a capital infusion by EEF and/or EEF Partners of at least $7,500,000. 
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291. However, the FirstMed Entities had already begun aggressively pursuing the 

Expansion Plan and expending significant resources in doing so, and continued to do so, despite 

not receiving that capital infusion by EEF and/or EEF Partners. 

292. By November of 2013, the FirstMed Defendants already had utilized the FirstMed 

Entities to, among other things, develop and research the business model for the Expansion Plan, 

hire the TN / AL Employees at an annualized cost of more than $1,600,000, begin marketing 

business as "Priority Ambulance" and "Shoals Ambulance" in Tennessee and Alabama, and 

relocate ambulances, medical supplies, and equipment of the FirstMed Entities to Tennessee and 

Alabama. 

293. The various presentations made by the EEF Defendants to the Lenders in 

November of 2013 contained cash flow and financial forecasts which varied widely from 

presentation to presentation, even though the forecasts were submitted only a few days apart. 

294. The EEF Defendants consistently represented to the Lenders that ESAC and the 

ESAC Subsidiaries had generated consistent stand-alone profit and that those entities were 

expected to continue to generate stand-alone profit of at least $2,000,000 each year going 

forward. 

295. After the EEF Defendants informed the Lenders in one presentation that there was 

a liquidity crisis at the FirstMed Entities, the Lenders requested in-person meetings with the 

Gibson Management Team, but the EEF Defendants informed the Lenders that all of the 

members of the Gibson Management Team were unavailable to meet because they were 

attending a week-long event in Las Vegas. 
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296. In November of 2013, the Lenders engaged a professional advisory firm to assess 

the financial characteristics of the FirstMed Entities and the forecasts provided by the EEF 

Defendants and to recommend restructuring plans. 

297. The Lenders made proposals for restructuring to the EEF Defendants based on the 

recommendations of its professional advisory firm, but the EEF Defendants refused each 

proposal and ignored the suggestions of the professional advisory firm. 

298. In November and December of 2013, the EEF Defendants continued to threaten to 

shut down the businesses of the FirstMed Entities and to file Chapter 7 bankruptcy cases for the 

FirstMed Entities if the Lenders did not dramatically reduce the debt owed by the FirstMed 

Entities. 

299. In their presentations to the Lenders, the EEF Defendants indicated that a decision 

had to be made quickly because RuralMetro, a competing medical transport services company 

which formerly had employed Gibson, would be emerging from bankruptcy and would be 

primed to begin operations in Tennessee and Alabama by December 13, 2013. 

300. Upon information and belief, a perceived need to act before RuralMetro emerged 

from bankruptcy motivated the actions of the FirstMed Defendants in late 2013. 

301. In early December of 2013, a call was scheduled between the Lenders, counsel for 

the Lenders, the EEF Defendants, and counsel for the EEF Defendants in order to discuss 

restructuring of the Loan. 

302. When the Lenders and counsel for the Lenders got on the call, counsel for the 

EEF Defendants indicated that none of the EEF Defendants would be on the call because they 

had decided to shut down the businesses of the FirstMed Entities and to file a Chapter 7 

bankruptcy case for each of the FirstMed Entities immediately. 
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303. In the days before the Petition Date, counsel for the Lenders informed counsel for 

the EEF Defendants that a shut-down of the businesses of the FirstMed Entities, the reduction of 

workforce, and the filing of Chapter 7 petitions would violate various fiduciary duties owed to 

the FirstMed Entities and their creditors by the FirstMed Defendants because those actions 

would be blatantly wasteful, irresponsible, and the most harmful course of action in that, among 

other things, it would fail to maximize or preserve the value of the businesses of the FirstMed 

Entities and their assets  In addition, the Lender’s counsel pointed out that the reduction in 

workforce would raise potential WARN Act issues and possible liability. 

304. Counsel for the Lenders restated his positions in a letter received by counsel for 

the EEF Defendants prior to the Petition Date. 

305. The EEF Defendants ignored those warnings. 

306. In the days prior to the Petition Date, the Lenders offered to provide debtor-in-

possession financing for the FirstMed Entities for a Chapter 11 bankruptcy filing, but the EEF 

Defendants refused that offer and filed Chapter 7 bankruptcy cases for the FirstMed Entities. 

The Decision to File Chapter 7 Cases for the FirstMed Entities and the WARN Act Claims 
 

307. Late in the afternoon on Friday, December 6, 2013, the FirstMed Defendants 

began to inform the FirstMed Entities' employees that the FirstMed Entities would file Chapter 7 

bankruptcy cases and would cease their operations effective immediately, and that the employees 

were terminated immediately. 

308. Upon information and belief, the FirstMed Defendants failed to implement, and 

did not even seriously consider alternatives to the precipitous shutdown of the businesses of the 

FirstMed Entities or the filing of Chapter 7 bankruptcy petitions, such as non-bankruptcy 

restructuring, sale of assets, orderly liquidation, receivership, or Chapter 11 bankruptcy cases. 
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309. Upon information and belief, those alternatives were available to the FirstMed 

Defendants and would have preserved substantially more value in the FirstMed Entities than 

termination of their operations and the filing of Chapter 7 bankruptcy cases for each of the 

FirstMed Entities. 

310. Upon information and belief, the FirstMed Defendants did not seriously consider 

alternatives to Chapter 7 bankruptcy cases for financially stable ESAC and the ESAC 

Subsidiaries, such as continued operation independent of AAA, non-bankruptcy restructuring, 

sale of assets, orderly liquidation, receivership, or Chapter 11 bankruptcy cases. 

311. Upon information and belief, those alternatives were available to the FirstMed 

Defendants for ESAC and the ESAC Subsidiaries and would have preserved substantially more 

value than the filing of Chapter 7 bankruptcy cases. 

312. Upon information and belief, the Lenders were supportive of, and actively pled 

with the FirstMed Defendants to implement, a restructuring plan for the FirstMed Entities other 

than Chapter 7 bankruptcy cases. 

313. Upon information and belief, the Lenders would have accepted and agreed to 

virtually any other reasonable restructuring proposal besides Chapter 7 bankruptcy cases for each 

of the FirstMed Entities. 

314. Upon information and belief, the Lenders offered to provide debtor-in-possession 

financing in order to allow the FirstMed Entities to file Chapter 11 bankruptcy filings, but the 

FirstMed Defendants rejected that proposal. 

315. Upon information and belief, the FirstMed Defendants directed the shutdown of 

the operations of the FirstMed Entities and elected to file Chapter 7 bankruptcy cases for each of 

the FirstMed Entities as a means of benefitting themselves and Priority and Shoals by, inter alia, 
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eliminating the FirstMed Entities from competing with those new entities, by creating an 

opportunity for those new entities to immediately move forward with the Expansion Plan 

belonging to the FirstMed Entities, by creating an opportunity for those new entities to 

immediately hire employees of the FirstMed Entities, and by creating a potential opportunity for 

those new entities to purchase vehicles, equipment, and supplies belonging to the FirstMed 

Entities at liquidation value. 

316. Alternatives to Chapter 7 bankruptcy filings for the FirstMed Entities which 

would have preserved significantly more of the value of the FirstMed Entities were available to 

the FirstMed Defendants, but the FirstMed Defendants did not pursue those alternatives and, 

instead, chose to shut down their businesses and file Chapter 7 bankruptcy cases despite their 

knowledge that those actions would, of all of the available options, be the most destructive 

course for the value of the FirstMed Entities. 

317. Upon information and belief, as of the Petition Date, each of the FirstMed Entities 

had considerable going concern value, had assets which were both valuable and marketable, and 

had recognizable brands and goodwill which would have attracted new investment capital or 

purchasers. 

318. Upon information and belief, employees of the FirstMed Entities were given no 

advance notice, or at most a few hours' notice, that their employment would be terminated as of 

Friday December 6, 2013. 

319. As a result of decision of the FirstMed Defendants to terminate the business 

operations of the FirstMed Entitie, the employees of the FirstMed Entities who were terminated 

on December 6, 2013 - estimated to number over 2,000 - were not paid wages for periods prior to 

the Petition Date. 
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320. Upon information and belief, the abrupt filing of Chapter 7 bankruptcy cases 

caused interruption in health insurance for the employees of the FirstMed Entities. 

321. As a result of the FirstMed Defendants' actions in causing each of the FirstMed 

Defendants to hastily file Chapter 7 bankruptcy cases without providing more than a few hours' 

notice to, or paying the wages of, the FirstMed Entities' employees, the FirstMed Entities' 

bankruptcy estates are now subject to the WARN Act Litigation brought by representatives of a 

class, alleged to consist of approximately 2,000 former employees of the FirstMed Entities, 

asserting claims for millions of dollars in damages, punitive damages, and attorneys' fees for 

violation of the WARN Act. 

322. The WARN Act Litigation is pending before this Court. 

323. The FirstMed Entities' bankruptcy estates have expended significant resources in 

the investigation into and the defense of the WARN Act Litigation. 

324. The liability of the FirstMed Entities' bankruptcy estates on account of the claims 

set forth in the WARN Act Litigation is not yet certain, but any such liability is the direct result 

of the FirstMed Defendants' wrongful actions. 

Corporate Filings for Shoals and Priority Before the Petition Date 

325. On November 6, 2013, Shoals Ambulance, Inc., which had previously been 

registered to conduct business only in Alabama, became registered with the Office of the 

Tennessee Secretary of State to conduct business in Tennessee. 

326. In its filings the Officer of the Tennessee Secretary of State, Shoals Ambulance, 

Inc. listed, as assumed names, "FirstMed EMS" and "Priority Ambulance." 

327. A true and accurate copy of the Business Entity Detail listing published by, and 

certain filings made by Shoals Ambulance, Inc. with, the Office of the Tennessee Secretary of 
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State showing Shoals Ambulance, Inc.'s registration of the assumed names "FirstMed EMS" and 

"Priority Ambulance" is attached hereto as "Exhibit G" and is incorporated herein by reference 

as if fully set forth. 

328. Upon information and belief, the EEF Defendants and Gibson directed the listing 

of "FirstMed EMS" and "Priority Ambulance" as assumed names of Shoals Ambulance, Inc. on 

the initial filing with the Office of the Tennessee Secretary of State. 

329. Upon information and belief, the FirstMed Entities had no agreement with Shoals 

for the use of their trade name and the FirstMed Entities did not receive any compensation from 

Shoals for the use of their name. 

330. On December 5, 2013, the day before the FirstMed Defendants terminated all 

operations of the FirstMed Entities and informed all of the employees of the FirstMed Entities 

that they were terminated immediately, the EEF Defendants formed Priority Ambulance, LLC 

and registered Priority with the Office of the Delaware Secretary of State. 

331. On the same day, December 5, 2013, the EEF Defendants also formed Priority 

Ambulance Intermediate Holdings, LLC, Priority Ambulance Holdings, LLC, and Priority 

Ambulance Blocker Corporation, and registered those entities with the Office of the Delaware 

Secretary of State. 

332. Each of those entities was related to Priority. 

333. True and accurate copies of the Entity Details listings published by the Office of 

the Delaware Secretary of State for Priority, Priority Ambulance Intermediate Holdings, LLC, 

Priority Ambulance Holdings, LLC, and Priority Ambulance Blocker Corporation are attached 

hereto as "Exhibit H" and are incorporated herein by reference as if fully set forth. 
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334. The EEF Defendants formed Priority and the other related entities on December 

5, 2013 because they had decided to file Chapter 7 bankruptcy cases for the FirstMed Entities 

and they needed a new entity within which to continue exactly the same strategy and business 

plan set forth in the Expansion Plan for their own benefit using the Gibson Management Team, 

the TN / AL Employees, and other key employees of the FirstMed Entities once the FirstMed 

Entities filed their Chapter 7 bankruptcy cases. 

335. Upon information and belief, the FirstMed Defendants developed the intention to 

form Priority well before December 5, 2013 and it took the FirstMed Defendants substantial time 

and effort to develop the structure of Priority before it was formed on December 5, 2013. 

336. Upon information and belief, the FirstMed Defendants began fundraising and 

soliciting investments for Priority and/or Shoals well before Priority was formed on December 5, 

2013. 

337. Shortly after the Petition Date, on or about December 18, 2013, Shoals 

Ambulance, Inc. changed its name to Shoals Ambulance, LLC. 

338. A true and accurate copy of the Business Entity Details listing published by the 

Office of the Alabama Secretary of State for Shoals Ambulance, LLC is attached hereto as 

"Exhibit I" and is incorporated herein by reference as if fully set forth. 

339. Then, on or about December 23, 2013, Priority purchased all of the outstanding 

membership interest of Shoals, including all of the membership interest owned by Gibson. 

340. Shoals is now a wholly owned subsidiary of Priority. 

341. Upon information and belief, Gibson formed an entity, BG Holdings, Inc., and 

invested in Priority through that entity. 
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342. A chart outlining the organization structure of Priority, Shoals, and related entities 

is attached hereto as "Exhibit J" and is incorporated herein by reference as if fully set forth. 

Priority Ambulance and Shoals Ambulance Utilize the FirstMed Entities' Investment After 
the Bankruptcy Filing 
 

343. Upon information and belief, before the Petition Date the FirstMed Defendants 

discussed and developed a plan to continue exactly the same Expansion Plan that had been 

developed by, started in, and paid for by the FirstMed Entities in Priority and Shoals after the 

FirstMed Entities filed Chapter 7 bankruptcy cases. 

344. In doing so, the FirstMed Defendants were acting on behalf of and as the agents 

of Priority and Shoals, while at the same time they served as officers and directors of, and owed 

duties to, the FirstMed Entities, and were acting to benefit themselves and Priority and Shoals. 

345. Priority and Shoals did continue, and are presently operating, exactly the same 

Expansion Plan that was developed by, started in, and paid for by the FirstMed Entities. 

346. Priority and Shoals, and the FirstMed Defendants, have profited and continue to 

profit from their wrongful conversion and use of the Expansion Plan and the assets, resources, 

and investment of the FirstMed Entities. 

347. By diverting the FirstMed Entities' resources into Priority and Shoals, the 

FirstMed Defendants and Priority and Shoals each benefitted by avoiding the typical time, 

expense, and strains associated with developing a new business, such as developing business 

models and strategies, recruiting, hiring, and training employees and management, acquiring 

equipment and assets, and marketing. 

348. Likewise, by diverting the FirstMed Entities' resources into Priority and Shoals, 

the FirstMed Defendants and Priority and Shoals each benefitted by escaping the debt 

encumbering the FirstMed Entities. 
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349. All members of the Gibson Management Team were hired by either Priority or 

Shoals and have obtained gainful positions with either Priority or Shoals. 

350. Upon information and belief, all or substantially all of the TN / AL Employees 

were hired by either Priority or Shoals. 

351. Upon information and belief, all or substantially all of the TN / AL Employees 

were recruited to work for either Priority or Shoals by one or more of the FirstMed Defendants. 

352. By continuing exactly the same Expansion Plan that was developed by, started in, 

and paid for by the FirstMed Entities, the FirstMed Defendants, Priority, and Shoals wrongfully 

misappropriated and converted the FirstMed Entities' business plan, corporate opportunity, labor, 

employment lists, confidential information, marketing, research and development, contracts, 

customers, and other assets and efforts, while leaving all of the FirstMed Entities' liabilities 

behind. 

353. Upon information and belief, representatives of EEF and/or EEF Partners, 

including Chandra and/or Paul, constitute a majority of the Board of Directors of Priority and 

Shoals. 

354. Upon information and belief, each of the EEF Defendants was and has been 

materially involved with the operations and management of Priority and Shoals and each of Paul, 

Chandra, and Kostuchenko have obtained gainful positions within Priority and Shoals. 

  The Gibson and Blackburn Employment Agreements 

355. On or about July 29, 2013, Gibson entered into an Executive Agreement with 

ESAC (the "Gibson Employment Agreement"). 

356. A true and accurate copy of the Gibson Employment Agreement is attached 

hereto as "Exhibit K" and is incorporated herein by reference as if fully set forth. 
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357. The Gibson Employment Agreement called for Gibson to receive a base salary of 

$350,000, the opportunity for an annual bonus of up to $350,000, certain units of ownership in 

Ambulance Holdings, and reimbursement of entertainment and travel expenses, including first 

class airfare. 

358. Paragraph 2(b) of the Gibson Employment Agreement required Gibson to "devote 

his full business time and attention to the business and affairs of the Company." 

359. Paragraph 2(b) of the Gibson Employment Agreements allows Gibson to continue 

as an officer or director of Shoals but requires that Gibson's activities for Shoals do not 

"materially detract from the performance of his duties to [the FirstMed Entities] or conflict with 

his obligations under this Agreement." 

360. Gibson breached his obligation under Paragraph 2(b) of the Gibson Employment 

Agreement by, among other things, devoting substantial time and attention to the Expansion 

Plan, which was for the benefit of Priority and/or Shoals and himself, personally, and to the 

detriment of the FirstMed Entities. 

361. Paragraph 4(b) of the Gibson Employment Agreement provides that all Work 

Product, generally including all plans and ideas, generated by Gibson during his employment is 

the property of ESAC. 

362. Paragraph 5(a) of the Gibson Employment Agreement provides that Gibson will 

not appropriate the FirstMed Entities' confidential information, including, but not limited to, 

expansion and business plans, and employee lists and information, for his own benefit or the 

benefit of any other person or entity. 

363. By stealing the exact Expansion Plan developed and paid for by the FirstMed 

Entities and utilizing that business plan in Shoals and Priority, as well as recruiting the TN / AL 
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Employees to work for Priority or Shoals, Gibson has misappropriated and converted the assets 

of the FirstMed Entities and violated Paragraphs 4(b) and 5(a) of the Gibson Employment 

Agreement. 

364. Paragraph 5(b) of the Gibson Employment Agreement prohibits Gibson from 

taking certain actions in competition with the FirstMed Entities. 

365. Gibson violated Paragraph 5(b) of the Gibson Employment Agreement by, among 

other things, carrying out the Expansion Plan in a manner which benefitted Priority and Shoals to 

the detriment of the FirstMed Entities and by misappropriating and converting the Expansion 

Plan and other business information of the FirstMed Entities for use by Priority and Shoals. 

366. Paragraph 5(c) of the Gibson Employment Agreement prohibits Gibson from 

soliciting any customer or prospective customer of the FirstMed Entities. 

367. Upon information and belief, Gibson violated Paragraph 5(c) of the Gibson 

Employment Agreement by, among other things, soliciting those customers or potential 

customers which had been identified by the FirstMed Entities in connection with their Expansion 

Plan in Tennessee or Alabama for the purpose of doing business with those customers within 

Shoals or Priority. 

368. On or about August 26, 2013, Blackburn entered into an Employment Agreement 

with ESAC (the "Blackburn Employment Agreement"). 

369. A true and accurate copy of the Blackburn Employment Agreement is attached 

hereto as "Exhibit L" and is incorporated herein by reference as if fully set forth. 

370. The Blackburn Employment Agreement calls for Blackburn to receive a base 

salary of $250,000, the opportunity for an annual bonus of up to 60% of his base salary, certain 
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opportunities to be granted units of ownership in Ambulance Holdings, and the reimbursement of 

certain expenses. 

371. Paragraph 2(b) of the Blackburn Employment Agreement required Blackburn to 

"devote his full business time and attention to the business and affairs of the [FirstMed Entities.]" 

372. Blackburn breached his obligation under Paragraph 2(b) of the Blackburn 

Employment Agreement by, among other things, devoting substantial time and attention to the 

Expansion Plan, which was for the benefit of Priority and/or Shoals and himself, personally, and 

to the detriment of the FirstMed Entities. 

373. Paragraph 4(b) of the Blackburn Employment Agreement provides that all Work 

Product, generally including all plans and ideas, generated by Blackburn during his employment 

is the property of ESAC. 

374. Paragraph 5(a) of the Blackburn Employment Agreement provides that Blackburn 

will not appropriate the FirstMed Entities' confidential information, including, but not limited to, 

expansion and business plans, and employee lists and information, for his own benefit or the 

benefit of any other person or entity. 

375. By stealing the exact Expansion Plan developed by the FirstMed Entities and 

utilizing that business plan in Shoals and Priority, as well as recruiting the TN / AL Employees 

to work for Priority or Shoals, Blackburn has misappropriated and converted the assets of the 

FirstMed Entities and violated Paragraphs 4(b) and 5(a) of the Blackburn Employment 

Agreement. 

376. Paragraph 5(b) of the Blackburn Employment Agreement prohibits Blackburn 

from taking certain actions in competition with the FirstMed Entities. 
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377. Blackburn violated Paragraph 5(b) of the Blackburn Employment Agreement by, 

among other things, carrying out the Expansion Plan in a manner which benefitted Priority and 

Shoals to the detriment of the FirstMed Entities and by misappropriating and converting the 

Expansion Plan and other business information of the FirstMed Entities for use by Priority and 

Shoals. 

378. Paragraph 5(c) of the Blackburn Employment Agreement prohibits Blackburn 

from soliciting any customer or prospective customer of the FirstMed Entities. 

379. Upon information and belief, Blackburn violated Paragraph 5(c) of the Blackburn 

Employment Agreement by, among other things, soliciting those customers or potential 

customers which had been identified by the FirstMed Entities in connection with their Expansion 

Plan in Tennessee or Alabama for the purpose of doing business with those customers within 

Shoals or Priority. 

Employee or Agent Status of Chandra, Paul, and Kostuchenko 

380. Chandra, Paul, and Kostuchenko were, at all times relevant to the actions alleged 

in this Complaint, employees or agents of EEF and EEF Partners. 

381. In undertaking all of the actions alleged in this Complaint, and/or in their roles as 

members of the Board of Directors and/or officers of each of the FirstMed Entities, Chandra, 

Paul, and Kostuchenko were acting within the course and scope of their employment or agency 

with EEF and EEF Partners, were carrying out the plans, strategies, and directives of EEF and 

EEF Partners, and were acting for the benefit of EEF and EEF Partners. 

382. EEF and EEF Partners placed Chandra and Paul on the Board of Directors and/or 

installed them as officers of each of the FirstMed Entities so that EEF and EEF Partners could 
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ensure that EEF and EEF Partners controlled and directed all material decisions, actions, and 

strategies of the FirstMed Entities. 

383. Under the principle of respondeat superior, EEF and EEF Partners are liable for 

the actions of their employees, Chandra, Paul, and Kostuchenko under any and all of the claims 

for relief asserted in this Complaint. 

Willful, Wanton, and/or Malicious Nature of Actions 

384. The actions of Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell as alleged herein 

were willful and wanton, and were done with malice.  For example, Paul, Chandra, Gibson, 

Blackburn, and Jewell knew and understood that their actions were done for the benefit of Shoals 

and/or Priority and themselves, and knew and understood that their actions would result in loss 

of value of the FirstMed Entities. 

385. The actions of EEF, EEF Partners, and Kostuchenko as alleged herein were 

willful and wanton, and were done with malice.  For example, EEF, EEF Partners, and 

Kostuchenko directed the strategies and actions carried out at the FirstMed Entities and aided 

and abetted the breaches of the fiduciary duties by Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell 

with the knowledge that the actions were done for the benefit of Shoals and/or Priority and 

themselves, and with the knowledge that they actions would result in loss of value of the 

FirstMed Entities. 

386. Those actions warrant the imposition of punitive damages against Paul, Chandra, 

Gibson, Blackburn, Jewell, EEF, EEF Partners, and Kostuchenko. 

Joint and Several Liability 

387. Upon information and belief, EEF Partners is a general partner of EEF. 
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388. In the event that EEF Partners is not a general partner of EEF, but is a limited 

partner of EEF, then, upon information and belief, EEF Partners participated in the control of 

EEF and it held itself out to the FirstMed Entities as its general partner, so that EEF Partners has 

the same liability as would a general partner in EEF. 

389. As a result, EEF Partners is jointly and severally liable with EEF for any and all 

liabilities under the claims asserted in this action. 

390. Upon information and belief, Paul, Chandra, and Kostuchenko are general 

partners of EEF. 

391. In the event that Paul, Chandra, and Kostuchenko are not general partners of EEF, 

but are limited partners of EEF, then, upon information and belief, Paul, Chandra, and 

Kostuchenko participated in the control of EEF Partners and held themselves out to the FirstMed 

Entities as its general partners, so that those individuals have the same liability as would a 

general partner in EEF. 

392. As a result, Paul, Chandra, and Kostuchenko are jointly and severally liable with 

EEF for any and all liabilities under the claims asserted in this action. 

393. In addition to the foregoing, Paul, Chandra, Kostuchenko, Blackburn, Jewell, and 

Gibson each individually participated in and carried out the wrongful conduct alleged herein 

such that they are individually liable for their own wrongful conduct. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Breach of Duty of Care to FirstMed Entities and their Creditors - Paul, Chandra, Gibson, 

Blackburn, and Jewell) 
 

394. The Trustee incorporates each and every allegation contained in all other 

paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

395. Paul and Chandra were directors of each of the FirstMed Entities. 
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396. Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell and Chandra were officers of each of the FirstMed 

Entities. 

397. Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell owed a duty of care to and for the 

benefit of each of the FirstMed Entities and their creditors. 

398. Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell violated their duty of care to and 

for the benefit of each of the FirstMed Entities and their creditors through the actions alleged in 

this Complaint. 

399. By way of example, Paul and Chandra violated their duty of care to and for the 

benefit of each of the FirstMed Entities and their creditors by: 

a. Hiring a Chief Executive Officer, Gibson, which owned a competing 

company, Shoals, and allowing Gibson to continue to work for and focus on Shoals while 

employed by the FirstMed Entities. 

b. Being inattentive to the existing business of the FirstMed Entities and 

focusing on the Expansion Plan. 

c. Pursuing the Expansion Plan with assets and resources of the FirstMed 

Entities where that Expansion Plan benefitted Shoals and Priority, did not benefit the FirstMed 

Entities, and substantially eroded the value of the FirstMed Entities. 

d. Pursuing the Expansion Plan before the FirstMed Entities had received the 

Expansion Investment when they knew or should have known that the FirstMed Entities were not 

in a position to successfully implement the Expansion Plan without the Expansion Investment. 

e. Using the resources of the FirstMed Entities to transfer the FirstMed 

Entities' vehicles and equipment to Tennessee and Alabama, directing the FirstMed Entities to 
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pay to re-paint their vehicles as Shoals and Priority vehicles, and allowing Shoals to use the 

FirstMed Entities' vehicles and equipment for no consideration. 

f. Recruiting, hiring, and directing the FirstMed Entities to pay the high-

salaried the TN / AL Employees and directing that those employees conduct work for Shoals and 

Priority and hold themselves out as representatives of Shoals and Priority. 

g. Directing the FirstMed Entities to pay marketing expenses, charitable 

donations, lease deposits, and other start-up costs for the Expansion Plan, in the name of Shoals 

and Priority. 

h. Negotiating with the Lenders in a manner not designed to preserve the 

value of the FirstMed Entities and with the sole intent to maximize return for themselves, EEF, 

and/or EEF Partners, or their new ventures, Shoals and Priority. 

i. Failing to adequately communicate with or to communicate accurate 

financial information to the Lenders. 

j. Failing to actually consider readily-available and far more productive and 

less damaging alternatives to the termination of operations and the Chapter 7 bankruptcy filings 

for the FirstMed Entities, such as continued operations and restructuring, sale of assets, orderly 

liquidation, receivership, or Chapter 11 bankruptcy cases. 

k. By directing that the FirstMed Entities file Chapter 7 bankruptcy filings, 

where that decision benefitted their new ventures, Shoals and Priority by removing competition 

and allowing Shoals and Priority to continue with the Expansion Plan and to make use of the 

efforts, business information, and employees of and paid for by the FirstMed Entities. 

l. Terminating employees of the FirstMed Entities without advance notice, 

thereby subjecting the FirstMed Entities' bankruptcy estates to the WARN Act Litigation and, 
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pending the outcome of the WARN Act Litigation, potential substantial liability under the 

WARN Act. 

m. Developing strategies for, fundraising for, creating, and implementing 

Priority prior to the Petition Date for the purpose of continuing precisely the same Expansion 

Plan developed and paid for and implemented by the FirstMed Entities with the same 

management and employees the FirstMed Entities had been utilizing. 

n. Converting, usurping, and misappropriating the Expansion Plan, as well as 

all business information and employees relating to the Expansion Plan for the benefit of 

themselves, EEF, EEF Partners, Shoals and Priority. 

o. Developing plans, while in a fiduciary role with the FirstMed Entities, to 

utilize the assets, resources, business plans, efforts, employees, and business information of the 

FirstMed Entities for the benefit of new, competing ventures, Shoals and Priority. 

400. By way of example, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell violated their duty of care to 

and for the benefit of each of the FirstMed Entities and their creditors by undertaking those 

actions described in the preceding paragraph, with the exceptions of subparagraphs (a) and (h). 

401. Both ESAC and AAA are liable for the full outstanding balance owing on the 

Loans. 

402. When the liabilities of the FirstMed Entities, including the liabilities for the full 

outstanding balance owing on the Loans, are considered, the FirstMed Entities were insolvent, as 

each of them individually and on a consolidated basis, as of the dates that each of the above-

referenced actions occurred. 
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403. In June of 2013 and continuing in each month prior to the Petition Date, the 

FirstMed Entities were insolvent in that they were dependent upon incremental funding 

authorized by or made by the EEF Defendants. 

404. In June of 2013 and continuing in each month prior to the Petition Date, the 

consolidated income statements prepared by the FirstMed Entities reported a consolidated 

negative EBITDA and a consolidated negative Net Income. 

405. A true and accurate copy of a consolidated income statement prepared by the 

FirstMed Entities and dated October 31, 2013 is attached hereto as "Exhibit M" and is 

incorporated herein by reference as if fully set forth. 

406. By October of 2013, as a result of the actions of the FirstMed Defendants, the 

FirstMed Entities had a consolidated EBITDA more negative than $1,000,000 per month as a 

result of the actions of the FirstMed Defendants as described in this Complaint. 

407. From mid to late 2013, the FirstMed Entities were implementing the Expansion 

Plan and the Expansion Plan represented a business for which the FirstMed Entities had 

unreasonably small capital and, to the extent that the FirstMed Entities were not insolvent prior, 

caused the FirstMed Entities to become insolvent. 

408. When the total amounts owed by each of the FirstMed Entities, including the total 

outstanding balance owing on the Loans, are included, in June of 2013 and continuing in each 

month prior to the Petition Date, the assets owned by the FirstMed Entities, as to each 

individually and also on a consolidated basis, had a value which was significantly less than the 

amount of the obligations owed by the FirstMed Entities. 

409. The FirstMed Entities were insolvent on the Petition Date as evidenced by the 

following facts set forth by the FirstMed Entities in their Schedules filed with this Court: 
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a. AAA listed assets worth $18,711,892.02 and liabilities totaling 

$42,006,119.94. 

b. ESAC listed assets worth $739,532.83 and liabilities totaling 

$37,997,452.77. 

c. Eastern Shore Ambulance listed assets worth $1,062,257.32 and liabilities 

totaling $34,686,503.18. 

d. Coastline Care listed assets worth $776,012.77 and liabilities totaling 

$34,698,190.21. 

e. MarMac listed assets worth $2,327,227.23 and liabilities totaling 

$34,790,188.43. 

f. TransMed listed assets worth $980,276.66 and liabilities totaling 

$34,650,900.92.  

410. The extent and values of the assets of the FirstMed Entities decreased between 

June 2013 and the Petition Date as a result of the actions of the FirstMed Defendants as alleged 

herein. 

411. The extent and amount of the liabilities of the FirstMed Entities did not change 

substantially between June 2013 and the Petition Date, except that the actions of the FirstMed 

Defendants during that period of time resulted in an increase in the amount of the FirstMed 

Entities' liabilities. 

412. According to the Statements of Financial Affairs filed on December 20, 2013, no 

property of the FirstMed Entities was transferred outside of the ordinary course of business 

within the two years preceding the Petition Date. 
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413. Between June 2013 and the Petition Date, the FirstMed Entities' debt to the 

Lenders was their largest indebtedness and during this period of time they failed to pay it, and 

other debts, as they came due.      

414. The actions of Chandra, Paul, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell as described in this 

Complaint were negligent, grossly negligent and/or intentional, were done in bad faith, were 

done with an improper motive, were not done to benefit the FirstMed Entities or to preserve the 

value of the FirstMed Entities, were done with an impermissible conflict of interest, were done 

for the benefit of themselves, EEF, EEF Partners, Priority and/or Shoals, were wanton, not done 

with the degree of care which is required of reasonable persons or persons with the special skill 

and learning of these defendants, and were not done on an informed basis. 

415. The breach of their duty of care by Chandra, Paul, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell 

as described in this Complaint is the direct and proximate cause of significant damage suffered 

by the FirstMed Entities and their creditors in an amount to be proven at the trial of this action. 

416. The Trustee and the FirstMed Entities are entitled to have and recover of Chandra, 

Paul, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell damages in an amount to be determined at the trial in this 

matter. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Breach of Duty of Loyalty to FirstMed Entities and their Creditors – Paul, Chandra, Gibson, 

Blackburn, Jewell) 
 

417. The Trustee incorporates each and every allegation contained in all other 

paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

418. Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell owed a duty of loyalty to each of 

the FirstMed Entities and their creditors. 
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419. Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell violated their duty of loyalty to 

each of the FirstMed Entities and their creditors through the actions alleged in this Complaint 

and in the preceding Claim for Relief. 

420. The actions of Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell alleged in this 

Complaint and in the preceding Claim for Relief were done with an impermissible conflict of 

interest, were done for the benefit of the FirstMed Defendants, Priority, and Shoals. 

421. The actions of Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell did benefit EEF 

and/or EEF Partners, did benefit themselves, and did benefit Shoals and Priority at the expense 

of the FirstMed Entities and their creditors. 

422. During their role as directors of each of the FirstMed Entities, Paul and Chandra 

were partners, employees, and representatives of EEF and/or EEF Partners, were beholden to 

EEF and/or EEF Partners, and acted with the specific intent to benefit EEF,  EEF Partners, 

Shoals, Priority, and themselves even at the expense of the FirstMed Entities. 

423. During their role as directors of each of the FirstMed Entities, Paul and Chandra 

had a personal stake and interest in the success of Shoals and Priority in that they, EEF and/or 

EEF Partners either already had made a substantial investment in Shoals and Priority or had 

formed the specific intention and plan to do so, and later did do so. 

424. During his employment with and as an officer of the FirstMed Entities, Gibson 

had an ownership interest in Shoals and acted with the specific intent to benefit Shoals and 

himself even at the expense of the FirstMed Entities and their creditors. 

425. During their employment with and as officers of the FirstMed Entities, Gibson, 

Blackburn, and Jewell made and carried out plans for the continuation of the Expansion Plan in 

Shoals and Priority with themselves as the executive management team of Shoals and Priority 
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and acted with the specific intent to benefit Shoals and Priority and themselves, even at the 

expense of the FirstMed Entities. 

426. The breach of their duty of loyalty by Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, and 

Jewell as described in this Complaint is the direct and proximate cause of significant damage 

suffered by the FirstMed Entities and their creditors in an amount to be proven at the trial of this 

action. 

427. The Trustee and the FirstMed Entities are entitled to have and recover of Paul, 

Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell damages in an amount to be determined at the trial of 

this matter. 

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Misappropriation of Corporate Opportunities - Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, Jewell) 

 
428. The Trustee incorporates each and every allegation contained in all other 

paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

429. The Expansion Plan including the funds and resources expended in its pursuit was 

an asset of and a corporate opportunity of the FirstMed Entities. 

430. The FirstMed Entities were implementing the Expansion Plan. 

431. The FirstMed Entities spent tremendous amounts of money and resources in 

developing and implementing the Expansion Plan. 

432. Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell were each substantially involved in 

the plan, decision, and action to implement the Expansion Plan under the name of Priority and 

Shoals, and to continue the exact Expansion Plan through Priority and Shoals using the FirstMed 

Entities' management team, employees, work, marketing, effort, and business information which 

had been developed and paid for by the FirstMed Entities. 
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433. Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell each usurped, converted, and 

misappropriated the FirstMed Entities' valuable corporate opportunities relating to the Expansion 

Plan. 

434. At the direction of Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell, Priority and 

Shoals have made substantial profit from the FirstMed Entities' corporate opportunities relating 

to the Expansion Plan, thereby wrongfully profiting at the FirstMed Entities' expense. 

435. Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell have personally benefitted and 

profited from their misappropriation of the FirstMed Entities' valuable corporate opportunities 

relating to the Expansion Plan at the expense of the FirstMed Entities and their creditors. 

436. The misappropriation of the FirstMed Entities' corporate opportunities relating to 

the Expansion Plan as described in this Complaint by Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, and 

Jewell is the direct and proximate cause of significant damage suffered by the FirstMed Entities 

and their creditors in an amount to be proven at the trial of this action. 

437. The Trustee and the FirstMed Entities are entitled to have and recovery of Paul, 

Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell damages in an amount to be determined at the trial of 

this matter. 

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Aiding and Abetting Breaches of Fiduciary Duties, Misappropriation of Corporate 
Opportunities, Conversion, and Fraudulent Transfers  – EEF, EEF Partners, Paul, 

Kostuchenko) 
 

438. The Trustee incorporates each and every allegation contained in all other 

paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

439. For purposes of this Fourth Claim for Relief only, and pursuant to this Court's 

September 28, 2016 Order, the term "FirstMed Entities" as used in this Fourth Claim for Relief 

does not include AAA. 
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440. With knowledge that the conduct constituted a breach of fiduciary duties to the 

FirstMed Entities and their creditors, conversion, and fraudulent transfers, EEF, EEF Partners, 

Paul, and Kostuchenko aided and abetted the breaches of the duty of care, the breaches of the 

duty of loyalty, the misappropriation of the FirstMed Entities' corporate opportunities, and the 

conversion and fraudulent transfer of assets by Chandra, Paul, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell as 

described in this Complaint. 

441. EEF and EEF Partners controlled the FirstMed Entities through their controlling 

ownership interest in the FirstMed Entities through Ambulance Holdings, their placement of 

their own representatives as a majority of the members of the Board of Directors of the FirstMed 

Entities, and their actions in ensuring that the FirstMed Entities were not adequately capitalized 

but were dependent upon EEF and/or EEF Partners for incremental funding. 

442. At all times during their role as directors of each of the FirstMed Entities, Paul 

and Chandra were beholden to EEF and EEF Partners, were acting on behalf of EEF and EEF 

Partners, and were acting for the specific purpose of benefitting EEF and EEF Partners even at 

the expense of the FirstMed Entities. 

443. The actions of Paul and Chandra were directed by and were done on behalf of 

EEF and EEF Partners. 

444. EEF, EEF Partners, and Kostuchenko were substantially and integrally involved 

in the development of the plan and strategy carried out by Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, 

and Jewell to implement the Expansion Plan under the name of Priority and Shoals, and to 

continue the exact Expansion Plan through Priority and Shoals using the FirstMed Entities' 

management team, employees, work, marketing, effort, and business information which had been 

developed or paid for by the FirstMed Entities. 
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445. For any period of time that Paul was not a director of the FirstMed Entities, in his 

role at EEF and EEF Partners, Paul was substantially involved in the plan, decision, and action to 

implement the Expansion Plan under the name of Priority and Shoals, and to continue the exact 

Expansion Plan through Priority and Shoals using the FirstMed Entities' management team, 

employees, work, marketing, effort, and business information which had been developed and 

paid for by the FirstMed Entities. 

446. EEF, EEF Partners, Paul, and Kostuchenko were substantially and integrally 

involved in the negotiations with the Lenders and the decision to file Chapter 7 bankruptcy cases 

for each of the FirstMed Entities. 

447. EEF, EEF Partners, and Kostuchenko actively encouraged and directed Chandra, 

Paul, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell to undertake those wrongful actions described in this 

Complaint and in the causes of action set forth herein for their own benefit or for the benefit of 

Shoals and Priority, and at the expense of the FirstMed Entities and their creditors. 

448. EEF, EEF Partners, Paul, and Kostuchenko had a financial stake in those actions 

described in this Complaint and in the preceding causes of action because they directly or 

indirectly owned and controlled the FirstMed Entities and later owned and controlled Priority 

and Shoals. 

449. By aiding and abetting the breaches of the duty of care, the breaches of the duty 

of loyalty, the misappropriation of the FirstMed Entities' corporate opportunities, and the 

conversion and fraudulent transfer of assets as described in this Complaint, EEF, EEF Partners, 

Paul, and Kostuchenko have directly and proximately caused the FirstMed Entities and their 

creditors to suffer significant damage in an amount to be proven at the trial of this action. 
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450. The Trustee and the FirstMed Entities are entitled to have and recover of EEF, 

EEF Partners, Paul, and Kostuchenko damages in an amount to be determined at the trial of this 

matter. 

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Conversion – Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, Jewell, EEF, EEF Partners, Kostuchenko, 

Priority, Shoals) 
 

451. The Trustee incorporates each and every allegation contained in all other 

paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully asserted herein. 

452. The Expansion Plan was the property of the FirstMed Entities. 

453. Business information developed by and utilized by representatives and employees 

of the FirstMed Entities in connection with the Expansion Plan was also the property of the 

FirstMed Entities.  Such business information included prospective customer information, 

strategies, plans, research, goodwill, and employee information. 

454. Through their actions as described in this Complaint and in the preceding claims 

for relief, Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, Jewell, EEF, EEF Partners, and Kostuchenko each 

wrongfully converted the Expansion Plan, business information, and equipment belonging to the 

FirstMed Entities and used those assets for the benefit of themselves, Priority, and Shoals. 

455. Priority and Shoals, through their agents, Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, 

Jewell, EEF, EEF Partners, and Kostuchenko, wrongfully converted the Expansion Plan, 

equipment, and business information belonging to the FirstMed Entities and used those assets in 

their business. 

456. Priority and Shoals have actually utilized the Expansion Plan, equipment, and 

business information belonging to the FirstMed Entities in their business and have made 

substantial profit from the conversion of those assets. 
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457. As the direct proximate cause of the conversion of Paul, Chandra, Gibson, 

Blackburn, Jewell, EEF, EEF Partners, Kostuchenko, Priority, and Shoals, those defendants have 

wrongfully profited at the expense of the FirstMed Entities, and the FirstMed Entities have 

suffered significant damage in an amount to be proven at the trial of this action. 

458. The Trustee and the FirstMed Entities are entitled to have and recover of Paul, 

Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, Jewell, EEF, EEF Partners, Kostuchenko, Priority, and Shoals 

damages in an amount to be determined at the trial of this matter. 

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Fraudulent Transfer – 11 U.S.C. §§ 544, 548, 550; and the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act  – 

Priority, Shoals, EEF, EEF Partners, Paul, Chandra, Gibson) 
 

459. The Trustee incorporates each and every allegation contained in all other 

paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

460. As described herein, the FirstMed Defendants caused and directed the FirstMed 

Entities to transfer certain of their assets to or for the benefit of Shoals and Priority. 

461. By way of example, the FirstMed Defendants caused and directed the FirstMed 

Entities to transfer the following assets to or for the benefit of Shoals and Priority: 

a. Vehicles and equipment. 

b. The TN / AL Employees and other managerial and administrative 

employees. 

c. Funds used by the FirstMed Entities to recruit, hire, and pay the TN / AL 

Employees, to develop and research the Expansion Plan, to transfer vehicles and equipment, to 

repaint vehicles, and to market and develop customers and contacts in Tennessee and Alabama. 

d. The Expansion Plan, and all plans, models, customer information, 

research, goodwill, employee information, and strategies relating to the Expansion Plan. 
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462. The transfers of the FirstMed Entities' assets to or for the benefit of Shoals and 

Priority were done by the FirstMed Defendants with the actual intent to hinder, delay, or defraud 

the FirstMed Entities and their creditors including the Lenders. 

463. The transfers of the FirstMed Entities assets to or for the benefit of Shoals and 

Priority were done while the FirstMed Entities were in default under the Loans, were negotiating 

with the Lenders and were threatening to file Chapter 7 bankruptcy cases if the Lenders did not 

acquiesce to the FirstMed Defendants' demands, and were done for the specific intent to take all 

of the upside value in the FirstMed Entities and transfer it to Shoals and Priority while also 

benefitting from the FirstMed Entities' payment of significant start-up costs. 

464. The FirstMed Defendants directed that the FirstMed Entities transfer their assets 

to Shoals and Priority for the purpose of ensuring that those assets would be utilized to benefit 

themselves and their new ventures, Shoals and Priority, and that those assets would thus not be 

available for the FirstMed Entities and their creditors including the Lenders going forward. 

465. The FirstMed Entities did not receive reasonably equivalent value from Shoals, 

Priority, or any other party on account of the transfers of the FirstMed Entities' assets to or for 

the benefit of Shoals and Priority and the FirstMed Defendants. 

466. In fact, the FirstMed Entities received no consideration whatsoever for the 

transfers of the FirstMed Entities' assets to or for the benefit of Shoals and Priority and the 

FirstMed Defendants. 

467. The FirstMed Entities were insolvent on the dates throughout mid to late 2013 

and before the Petition Date when their assets were being transferred to or for the benefit of 

Shoals and Priority or they became insolvent as a result of those transfers. 
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468. The transfers of the FirstMed Entities' assets to or for the benefit of Shoals and 

Priority were also made for the benefit of EEF, EEF Partners, Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, 

and Jewell, and did benefit those parties. 

469. EEF, EEF Partners, Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell are each 

insiders of the FirstMed Entities. 

470. Shoals and Priority are insiders of the FirstMed Entities because they are owned 

or controlled by officers and directors of the FirstMed Entities and the same entities which 

controlled the FirstMed Entities. 

471. As a result of the fraudulent transfer of the FirstMed Entities' assets to or for the 

benefit of Shoals, Priority, EEF, EEF Partners, Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell, 

the FirstMed Entities have been damaged in an amount equal to the value of the assets 

transferred, the precise amount to be proven at the trial of this action. 

472. The Trustee is entitled to have and recover of Shoals, Priority, EEF, EEF Partners, 

Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell damages in any amount to be determined at the 

trial of this action pursuant to 11 U.S.C. §§ 544, 548, and 550, and applicable State law 

including, inter alia, the North Carolina Fraudulent Transfer Act set forth in N.C. Gen. Stat. § 

39-23.1 et seq. 

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Unjust Enrichment – EEF, EEF Partners, Chandra, Paul, Kostuchenko, Gibson, Blackburn, 

Jewell, Priority, Shoals) 
 

473. The Trustee incorporates each and every allegation contained in all other 

paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

474. In addition to and/or in the alternative to the preceding claims for relief, the 

Trustee and the FirstMed Entities are entitled to equitable relief to recover the value of the assets 
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misappropriated by the FirstMed Entities and utilized for the benefit of the FirstMed Defendants, 

Priority, and Shoals. 

475. The FirstMed Defendants directed the FirstMed Entities to spend tremendous 

sums of money in connection with the Expansion Plan, including developing and strategizing as 

to the business model of the Expansion Plan, recruiting, hiring, and paying for the TN / AL 

Employees, relocating vehicles and equipment, repainting vehicles, marketing efforts, charitable 

donations, lease expenditures, and other things. 

476. The investment made by the FirstMed Entities in the Expansion Plan was not for 

the benefit of the FirstMed Entities, and did not benefit the FirstMed Entities, but was for the 

benefit of, and did benefit, the FirstMed Defendants, Shoals, and Priority. 

477. The FirstMed Defendants usurped, converted, and misappropriated assets of the 

FirstMed Entities, including the Expansion Plan, business information, and equipment belonging 

to the FirstMed Entities and used those assets for the benefit of themselves, Priority, and Shoals. 

478. The FirstMed Defendants, Priority, and Shoals have obtained a significant benefit 

from the use of the FirstMed Entities' assets and investment at the FirstMed Entities' expense. 

479. It would be unfair and unjust for the FirstMed Defendants, Priority, and Shoals to 

retain the benefit and the value of the FirstMed Entities' assets and investments without a 

corresponding obligation to repay the FirstMed Entities for that value. 

480. The Trustee and the FirstMed Entities are entitled to recover of the FirstMed 

Defendants, Priority, and Shoals the value of the FirstMed Entities' assets and investments 

utilized by Priority and Shoals. 

481. Such an award and recovery is necessary to prevent the unjust enrichment of the 

FirstMed Defendants, Priority, and Shoals. 
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EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Constructive Fraud  – Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, Jewell) 

 
482. The Trustee incorporates each and every allegation contained in all other 

paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

483. Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell owed fiduciary duties to each of 

the FirstMed Entities for the benefit of those entities and their creditors. 

484. Through the actions alleged in this Complaint and in the preceding claims for 

relief, Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell directed the FirstMed Entities to take 

actions which benefitted themselves. 

485. The actions alleged in this Complaint and in the preceding claims for relief 

constitute constructive fraud by Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell. 

486. The Trustee is entitled to have and recover of Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, 

and Jewell damages in an amount to be determined at the trial of this action. 

NINTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Breach of Contract or Agreement to Make Expansion Investment  – EEF, EEF Partners) 

 
487. The Trustee incorporates each and every allegation contained in all other 

paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

488. EEF and/or EEF Partners reached an agreement with the FirstMed Entities to 

make the Expansion Investment in the FirstMed Entities. 

489. In exchange for the promise to make the Expansion Investment, the FirstMed 

Entities promised to, and did, to their detriment and damage, continue utilizing their assets, 

funds, employees, business model, and other resources toward pursuit of the Expansion Plan 

despite financial performance which was significantly deteriorating, rather than holding-off, 

scaling back, or ending the FirstMed Entities' commitment to the Expansion Plan. 
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490. As consideration for the agreement, EEF and/or EEF Partners received the 

FirstMed Entities' continued pursuit of the Expansion Plan despite significant financial concerns, 

which ultimately benefitted EEF and/or EEF Partners by continuing the transfer of value by the 

FirstMed Entities to its new ventures. 

491. As consideration for the agreement, the FirstMed Entities believed that they 

would receive the significant Expansion Investment, which would reimburse it for and continue 

to fund the significant expense of the Expansion Plan. 

492. The agreement to make the Expansion Investment in the FirstMed Entities was 

binding on EEF and/or EEF Partners and constitutes a valid and enforceable agreement. 

493. EEF and/or EEF Partners breached that agreement by failing to make the 

Expansion Investment in the FirstMed Entities. 

494. As a result of EEF and/or EEF Partners' breach of their agreement to make the 

Expansion Investment in the FirstMed Entities, the FirstMed Entities have been damaged in an 

amount to be proven at the trial of this action. 

495. The Trustee is entitled to have and recover damages of EEF and/or EEF Partners 

on account of their breach in an amount to be proven at the trial of this action. 

TENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Breach of Employment Agreement – Gibson, Blackburn) 

 
496. The Trustee incorporates each and every allegation contained in all other 

paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully asserted herein. 

497. The Gibson Employment Agreement is a binding and enforceable contract. 

498. The Blackburn Employment Agreement is a binding and enforceable contract. 

499. Through the actions described in this Complaint, Gibson violated the Gibson 

Employment Agreement. 
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500. Through the actions described in this Complaint, Blackburn violated the 

Blackburn Employment Agreement. 

501. As a result of those breaches, the FirstMed Entities have suffered damages 

including, but not limited to, the value of those employees' labor and the loss of the value of their 

corporate opportunities, prospective business, customer lists, trade secrets, and other business 

information. 

502. As a result of those breaches, the Trustee and the FirstMed Entities are entitled to 

have and recover of Gibson and Blackburn damages in an amount to be determined at the trial of 

this matter. 

ELEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices – EEF, EEF Partners, Paul, Chandra, Kostuchenko, 

Gibson, Blackburn, Jewell, Shoals, Priority) 
 

503. The Trustee incorporates each and every allegation contained in all other 

paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully asserted herein. 

504. The actions of the FirstMed Defendants as described herein, including but not 

limited to the intentional diversion of investment, assets, resources, value, and opportunties from 

the FirstMed Entities to Shoals and Priority for their own benefit and for the benefit of Shoals 

and Priority, constitute unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce. 

505. At the time that the FirstMed Defendants undertook the actions described herein, 

the FirstMed Defendants were engaging in commercial dealings with the FirstMed Entities and 

were acting as competitors and in a manner competitive with the FirstMed Entities by 

intentionally utilizing the investment, assets, and resources of the FirstMed Entities for the 

benefit of, and transferring the benefit of the FirstMed Entities' assets and actions to, themselves 

and their new ventures, Shoals and Priority. 

Case 15-00043-8-SWH    Doc 27   Filed 10/18/16   Entered 10/18/16 15:28:07    Page 74 of
 196



- 75 - 

506. Shoals and Priority, and the FirstMed Defendants have adopted and implemented 

the precise business model that belonged to the FirstMed Entities and that the FirstMed Entities 

were implementing, and the FirstMed Entities would have actually implemented that precise 

business model and would be operating in those precise markets but for the wrongful conduct of 

Shoals, Priority, and the FirstMed Defendants. 

507. As each of the FirstMed Defendants undertook the actions described herein, they 

both served as officers, directors, or agents of the FirstMed Entities, yet simultaneously took 

actions which were designed to remove the FirstMed Entities from the marketplace, to form new 

entities to continue to conduct the Expansion Plan created and implemented by the FirstMed 

Entities, and to transfer the value of the FirstMed Entities to themselves and to the new entities. 

508. As the FirstMed Defendants undertook the actions described herein, they were 

acting for the benefit of themselves and of Shoals and Priority, entities which were created for 

the specific purpose of wrongfully competing with and obtaining the benefit of the investment, 

assets, resources, value, and opportunities of the FirstMed Entities and which did wrongfully 

take the investment, assets, resources, value, and opportunities of the FirstMed Entities. 

509. The FirstMed Defendants removed the FirstMed Entities from the marketplace by 

filing the Chapter 7 bankruptcy cases. 

510. Shoals and Priority knowingly and wrongfully obtained the FirstMed Entities' 

investment, assets, resources, value, and opportunities relating to the Expansion Plan. 

511. Shoals and Priority knew that the FirstMed Entities were unknowingly providing 

capital investment, assets, marketing, resources, and other efforts and expenditures relating to the 

Expansion Plan for their benefit, and Shoals and Priority had the specific intention to seize and 
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retain those investments, assets, resources, value, and opportunities for themselves and to 

continue the Expansion Plan after the FirstMed Entities were forced out of the marketplace.    

512. Shoals and Priority, and the FirstMed Defendants, have profited, and continue to 

profit, from the transfer of the FirstMed Entities' investment, assets, resources, value, and 

opportunities relating to the Expansion Plan. 

513. The actions of the FirstMed Defendants, Shoals, and Priority have negatively 

affected the marketplace and the consuming public in that: 

a. The FirstMed Entities have been entirely removed from the marketplace, 

eliminating the FirstMed Entities as competition for Priority and Shoals; 

b. Approximately 2,000 jobs were terminated and approximately 2,000 

families were adversely affected by the precipitous loss of those jobs and attendant 

benefits, such as health care, with little to no warning; 

c. Upon information and belief, the availability of medical transport services 

to members of the public, municipalities, hospitals, businesses, and convalescent facilities 

was significantly interrupted and diminished in the markets in which the FirstMed 

Entities operated throughout six (6) states; 

d. Persons, municipalities, hospitals, businesses, and convalescent facilities 

which contracted with or did business with the FirstMed Entities had their contracts or 

services abruptly ended without warning, such that, upon information and belief, 

customers and users of the FirstMed Entities experienced a gap in medical transport 

services; and 

e. By way of example, Bertie County, North Carolina was compelled to 

declare a state of emergency and obtain a temporary restraining order in an effort to 
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prevent the shutdown of FirstMed Entities from interrupting the 911 emergency services 

that the FirstMed Entities had contracted to perform for that area. 

514. As a direct and proximate result of the actions of the FirstMed Defendants, 

Shoals, and Priority, as described herein, the FirstMed Entities have suffered significant financial 

loss and other damages. 

515. The Trustee and the FirstMed Entities are entitled to have and recover damages 

from the FirstMed Defendants, Priority, and Shoals in an amount to be determined at the trial of 

this matter. 

516. The Trustee and the FirstMed Entities are also entitled to recover from the 

FirstMed Defendants, Priority, and Shoals treble the amount fixed by any verdict, such equitable 

relief as the Court deems necessary or proper, and reasonable costs and attorneys' fees. 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

 WHEREFORE, the Trustee respectfully requests that this Court award him the following 

relief on the claims asserted herein: 

1. For an Order awarding damages against Chandra, Paul, Gibson, 

Blackburn, and Jewell, jointly and severally, for breaches of their fiduciary duties to the 

FirstMed Entities; 

2. For an Order awarding damages against Chandra, Paul, Gibson, 

Blackburn, and Jewell, jointly and severally, for their misappropriation of the corporate 

opportunities of the FirstMed Entities; 

3. For an Order awarding damages against EEF, EEF Partners, Paul, (for 

those periods during which he was not a director of the FirstMed Entities), and Kostuchenko, 

jointly and severally, for their aiding and abetting the breaches of fiduciary duties and 
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misappropriation of corporate opportunities carried out by Chandra, Paul, Gibson, Blackburn, 

and Jewell; 

4. For an Order holding EEF and EEF Partners jointly and severally liable 

with Chandra, Paul, and Kostuchenko under any of the claims set forth in this Complaint under 

the doctrine of respondeat superior; 

5. For an Order awarding damages against Paul, Chandra, Gibson, 

Blackburn, Jewell, EEF, EEF Partners, Kostuchenko, Priority, and Shoals, jointly and severally, 

for their conversion of the assets and property of the FirstMed Entities; 

6. For an Order awarding damages against Shoals, Priority, EEF, EEF 

Partners, Paul, Chandra, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell, jointly and severally, on account of the 

fraudulent transfer of the assets and property of the FirstMed Entities; 

7. For an Order awarding damages against EEF, EEF Partners, Chandra, 

Paul, Kostuchenko, Gibson, Blackburn, Jewell, Priority, Shoals in order to prevent the unjust 

enrichment of those parties at the expense of the FirstMed Entities; 

8. For an Order awarding damages against Paul, Chandra, Gibson, 

Blackburn, Jewell, jointly and severally, on account of their constructive fraud against the 

FirstMed Entities; 

9. For an Order awarding punitive damages against Paul, Chandra, Gibson, 

Blackburn, Jewell, EEF, EEF Partners, and Kostuchenko for their fraudulent, malicious, willful, 

and wanton actions against the FirstMed Entities; 

10. For an Order awarding damages against EEF and EEF Partners on account 

of their breach of their agreement to make the Expansion Investment in the FirstMed Entities; 
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11. For an Order holding EEF Partners, Chandra, Paul, and Kostuchenko 

jointly and severally liable with EEF for any and all liability of EEF under the claims set forth in 

this Complaint; 

12. For an Order awarding damages against Gibson for breaches of the Gibson 

Employment Agreement; 

13. For an Order awarding damages against Blackburn for breaches of the 

Gibson Employment Agreement; 

14. For an Order awarding damages against EEF, EEF Partners, Paul, 

Chandra, Kostuchenko, Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell for their unfair or deceptive practices and 

acts, and for an Order trebling those damages; 

15. For an Order awarding damages against Chandra, Paul, Kostuchenko, 

Gibson, Blackburn, and Jewell, individually, under any of the claims set forth in this Complaint 

to the extent that they individually participated in and carried out the wrongful conduct 

underlying such claim; 

16. For an Order awarding the Trustee his costs and attorneys' fees to the 

maximum extent allowable by applicable law; and 

17. For such other and further relief as to the Court may seem just and proper. 
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This the 18th day of October, 2016. 
 
 

 
s/ Michael J. Parrish______________________________ 
Michael J. Parrish 
N.C. State Bar I.D. No.:  38419 
email:  mjp@wardandsmith.com 
E. Bradley Evans 
N.C. State Bar I.D. No.:  028515 
email:  ebe@wardandsmith.com 
For the firm of  
Ward and Smith, P.A. 
Post Office Box 867 
New Bern, NC  28563-0867 
Telephone:  252.672.5400 
Facsimile:  252.672.5477 
Special Counsel for the Trustee 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 
 I hereby certify that the foregoing SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT was filed 

electronically in accordance with the local rules and was therefore served electronically on those 

entities that have properly registered for such electronic service.  Entities not registered for 

electronic service have been served by depositing a copy thereof in the United States mail, 

postage pre-paid. 

James M. Hash, Esq.  
E.D. Gaskins, Jr., Esq.  
Everett Gaskins Hancock LLP  
220 Fayetteville Street, Suite 300  
PO Box 911  
Raleigh, NC 27602  
Counsel for Defendants Enhanced Equity Fund II, 
L.P., EEF Partners II, L.P., Malcolm 
Kostuchenko, Priority Ambulance, LLC, and 
Shoals Ambulance, LLC  
 

Eric E. Walker, Esq.  
Perkins Coie LLP  
131 South Dearborn Street, Suite 1700  
Chicago, IL 60603  
Counsel for Defendants Enhanced Equity Fund 
II, L.P., EEF Partners II, L.P., Malcolm 
Kostuchenko, Priority Ambulance, LLC, and 
Shoals Ambulance, LLC 

Holmes P. Harden, Esq.  
Gilbert C. Laite, III, Esq.  
Williams Mullen  
PO Box 1000  
Raleigh, NC 27602  
Counsel for Defendants Andrew M. Paul, Samarth 
Chandra, Bryan Gibson, Steven Blackburn, and 
Robert Jewell 

 

 
This the 18th day of October, 2016. 

 
s/ Michael J. Parrish______________________________ 
Michael J. Parrish 
N.C. State Bar I.D. No.:  38419 
email:  mjp@wardandsmith.com 
E. Bradley Evans 
N.C. State Bar I.D. No.:  028515 
email:  ebe@wardandsmith.com 
For the firm of  
Ward and Smith, P.A. 
Post Office Box 867 
New Bern, NC  28563-0867 
Telephone:  252.672.5400 
Facsimile:  252.672.5477 
Special Counsel for the Trustee 
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